# LONG-TERM WARMING AND ELEVATED CARBON DIOXIDE EFFECTS ON THE ANAEROBIC OXIDATION OF METHANE IN A NORTHERN PEAT BOG

by: MADISON BARNEY

A THESIS

Presented to the Department of Biology and the Division of Graduate Studies of the University of Oregon in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science June 2022

## THESIS APPROVAL PAGE

Student: Madison Barney

Title: Long-Term Warming and Elevated Carbon Dioxide Effects on the Anaerobic Oxidation of Methane in a Northern Peat Bog

This thesis has been accepted and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in the Department of Biology by:

Scott Bridgham	Chairperson
Matthew Polizzotto	Member
Krista McGuire	Member
and	
Krista Chronister	Vice Provost for Graduate Studies

Original approval signatures are on file with the University of Oregon Division of Graduate Studies.

Degree awarded June 2022

© Madison Barney 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (United States) License.



#### THESIS ABSTRACT

Madison Barney Master of Science Department of Biology June 2022 Title: Long-Term Warming and Elevated Carbon Dioxide Effects on the Anaerobic Oxidation of Methane in a Northern Peat Bog

Freshwater wetlands are responsible for ~ 20% of global methane (CH4) emissions. While previous studies have highlighted the importance of aerobic oxidation and marine anaerobic oxidation of CH4 (AOM), limited research has been conducted on AOM in freshwater ecosystems. Here, a pilot experiment in riverine sediments verified the <sup>13</sup>CH4 tracer method used and indicated low rates of AOM with no effect of instantaneous temperature change. Results from a long-term warming and CO<sub>2</sub> enhancement experiment in a northern Minnesota, USA bog showed warming increases AOM rates more than CH4 and CO<sub>2</sub> production. Thus, with increasing temperatures, AOM might consume a larger proportion of net CH4 production. In a methodology component of the experiment, we found weak evidence that incubations with added porewater underrepresent AOM rates. This study highlights the importance of AOM in CH4 cycling in freshwater ecosystems and the need for continued research.

This thesis includes unpublished co-authored material.

## CURRICULUM VITAE

## NAME OF AUTHOR: Madison Barney

## GRADUATE AND UNDERGRADUATE SCHOOLS ATTENDED:

University of Oregon, Eugene Indiana University, Bloomington

## DEGREES AWARDED:

Master of Science, Biology, 2022, University of Oregon Bachelor of Arts, Biology, 2019, Indiana University

## AREAS OF SPECIAL INTEREST:

Ecology Biogeochemistry Soil-Plant-Atmospheric Interactions

## PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

Graduate student researcher, University of Oregon, September 2020 – June 2022 Teaching assistant, University of Oregon, September 2020 – June 2022 Research assistant, Indiana University, August 2018 – May 2019

## PREVIOUS UNDERGRADUATE INDEPENDENT EXPERIMENTS:

Do Trees from Different Mycorrhizal Associations Differ in Their Impacts on Soil Respiration

## **VOLUNTEER POSITIONS:**

Peer editor, Journal of Emerging Scientists

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to sincerely thank Dr. Scott Bridgham for his guidance through all aspects of this thesis. His knowledge was invaluable in constructing this manuscript. In addition, special thanks are due to my committee members, Dr. Matthew Polizzotto and Dr. Krista McGuire, who provided crucial feedback and ideas for exploration. I would also like to thank Laura McCullough, whose methods have been used throughout this manuscript. As well, this thesis would not have been possible without the support, knowledge, and assistance of the Department of Biology's faculty, staff, and graduate student members.

Finally, I would like to extend sincere thanks to my friends and family who have supported me throughout this process. Special thanks to my parents, sister, and husband.

CHAPTER	PAGE
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Importance of Wetlands on Climate Change	1
1.2 Methane Production	2
1.3 Methane Consumption	6
1.4 Previous AOM Methodology	
1.5 Hypotheses	
2. PILOT EXPERIMENT	14
2.1 Introduction	14
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Site Description	
2.2.2 Sample Collection	
2.2.3 Laboratory Methods	
2.2.4 Calculations	
2.2.5 Data Analysis	
2.3 Results	
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusion	
3. LONG-TERM WARMING INCREASES AOM RATES	

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	3.1 Introduction	
	3.2 Methods	30
	3.2.1 Site Description	30
	3.2.2 The SPRUCE Experiment	
	3.2.3 Sample Collection	33
	3.2.4 Laboratory Methods	34
	3.2.5 Calculations	35
	3.2.6 Data Analysis	37
	3.3 Results	39
	3.3.1 Methane Production	39
	3.3.2 AOM	41
	3.3.3 Carbon Dioxide Production	42
	3.3.4 Effect of Porewater	43
	3.4 Discussion	45
	3.4.1 Depth Effects	46
	3.4.2 Temperature Sensitivity	47
	3.4.3 Porewater Impacts	49
	3.5 Conclusion	50
4	- CONCLUSION	53
A	APPENDIX	55

REFERENCES		
------------	--	--

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	Page
1.	(a) Portrayal of potential porewater impact. Porewater limits diffusion of CH <sub>4</sub> from the headspace and availability to methanotrophs. (b) In the absence of porewater, CH <sub>4</sub> can be easily accessed by methanotrophs
2.	Net CH <sub>4</sub> production and consumption across depth with and without the addition of porewater (Hopple 2018)
3.	AOM rates plotted against temperatures $(12 - 24 \text{ °C})$ . Color indicates experimental timepoint. Ex. T0_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3
4.	Net CH <sub>4</sub> production rates plotted against temperatures ( $12 - 24 \text{ °C}$ ). Color indicates experimental timepoint. Ex. T0_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3
5.	$CO_2$ production rates plotted against temperatures (12 – 24 °C). Color indicates experimental timepoint. Ex. T0_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3
6.	AOM rates across all experimental timepoints. Ex. T0_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3.
7.	CH <sub>4</sub> production rates across all experimental timepoints. Ex. T0_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3
8.	CO <sub>2</sub> production rates across all experimental timepoints. Ex. T0_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3
9.	Aerial view of SPRUCE S-1 Bog. Chamber temperatures are shown in colored legend. (Hanson et al., 2017)
10.	Temperature (°C) across depth in all plots. Letters indicate significant differences among depths
11.	(a) Net CH <sub>4</sub> production (Log <sub>10</sub> ) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. (b) Boxplot of net CH <sub>4</sub> production by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths 39
12.	Net CH <sub>4</sub> production across temperature in the most surface-level depth measured after (a) one year of whole-ecosystem warming (Wilson et al. 2016), (b) three years of whole-ecosystem warming (Hopple et al. 2020), and six years of whole-ecosystem warming 40
12	(a) Cross CIL production (los.) consector protocol (%C). Color indicates donth a

13.	(a) Gross CH <sub>4</sub> production ( $\log_{10}$ ) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. y =
	0.0166x - 0.6534 (b) Boxplot of gross CH <sub>4</sub> production rates by depth. Letters indicate
	significant differences among depths 40

14.	(a) AOM (cube root) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. $y = 0.0195x - 0.1011$ (b) Boxplot of AOM by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths 41
15.	(a) Percent AOM of net CH <sub>4</sub> production (Arcsine) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. $y = 0.0203x - 0.1128$ (b) Boxplot of the percent AOM of net CH <sub>4</sub> production by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths
16.	(a) CO <sub>2</sub> production (square root) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. (b) Boxplot of CO <sub>2</sub> production rates by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths 42
17.	CO <sub>2</sub> production in elevated and ambient CO <sub>2</sub> treatments in plots
18.	(a) AOM across temperature (°C). Color indicates porewater addition or control. (b) Boxplot of AOM with and without porewater by depth. Color indicates porewater addition or control
19.	(a) Boxplot of gross CH <sub>4</sub> production with and without porewater (b) Boxplot of net CH <sub>4</sub> production with and without porewater
20.	Boxplot of CO <sub>2</sub> production with and without porewater
21.	Boxplot of percent AOM of net CH4 production without and without porewater

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Length of incubation, AOM rates, and percentage of gross CH <sub>4</sub> produced co AOM in 5 recent studies Adapted from McCullough et al., 2019	nsumed by
S.1 All raw data isotope values for the pilot experiment	55
S.2 All raw data isotope values for SPRUCE experiment.	

## LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme	
Equation 1: AOM rate for pilot experiment	
Equation 2: Net CH <sub>4</sub> production rate for pilot experiment	
Equation 3 : AOM rate for SPRUCE experiment	
Equation 4: Net CH <sub>4</sub> production rate for SPRUCE experiment	
Equation 5: Gross CH <sub>4</sub> production rate for SPRUCE experiment	
Equation 6: Q <sub>10</sub> equation for SPRUCE experiment	

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

I wrote Chapter 1 with text edits provided by Scott Bridgham.

#### **1.1 Importance of Wetlands on Climate Change**

While wetlands provide numerous ecological goods and services, they are also the largest natural source of global methane (CH4) emissions (Saunois et al. 2020). Although CH4 has a lower atmospheric residency than CO<sub>2</sub> (~10 years vs 100 years, respectively), CH4 has 45 times the sustained-flux global warming potential over 100 years (Neubauer and Megonigal 2015). After 100 years, most of the radiative forcing (97%) from the original CH4 can be attributed to the oxidation of CH4 into CO<sub>2</sub> (Neubauer and Megonigal 2015). Most CH4 emissions (~ 60%) are a result of anthropogenic activity (waste treatment, coal and oil usage, livestock production, etc.) (Saunois et al. 2020). However, wetlands are responsible for roughly 20% of total CH4 emissions with an average global flux of 149 Tg CH4 yr<sup>-1</sup> from 2008 to 2017 (Saunois et al. 2020). To fully understand future climate change scenarios, wetland CH4 cycling and processes that might impact fluxes need to be understood under different warming regimes.

Peatlands are wetlands where decomposition is slow because of waterlogging and organic matter accumulates into peat soil. They differ from mineral-soil in that they have high organic matter content and a peat profile that usually extends several meters (Frolking et al. 2001, Yu 2012). While they cover less than 3% of the global surface, they contain half of the total soil carbon and are significant environments for carbon sequestration (Bridgham et al. 2013, Nichols and Peteet 2019). Generally, peatlands are divided into two major categories: fens and bogs. Fens receive water and nutrients from groundwater movement, are typically more alkaline, and have high rates of primary productivity. By contrast, bogs receive water and nutrients only from atmospheric precipitation, are usually highly acidic, and have lower rates of primary productivity (Wheeler and Proctor 2000). Due to the minerotrophic nature of fens, they tend to produce more

CH<sub>4</sub> than comparable bog systems (Medvedeff et al. 2015). As well as spatial classifications, peatlands can also be categorized vertically. The most surface level, the acrotelm, is a layer of peat that is usually aerobic and consists of vegetation, roots, and freshly decayed organic matter. It typically has high rates of decay, hydrological conductivity, and thus CH<sub>4</sub> production (Clymo 1984, Clymo and Bryant 2008). Deeper, the recently termed mesotelm is periodically aerobic with high rates of decomposition and carbon turnover, while the deepest layer, the catotelm, is permanently saturated with large stores of organic matter and carbon that are resistant to decay and can be thousands of years old (Clymo 1984, Clymo and Bryant 2008).

The majority of CH<sub>4</sub> is released from tropical ecosystems. (Bloom et al. 2010, Saunois et al. 2020). However at northern latitudes, emissions from wetlands are significantly higher than anthropogenic emissions (Saunois et al. 2020). Most increases in global CH<sub>4</sub> emissions post-2006 can be attributed to elevated production from microbial sources in the tropics, including wetlands (Lan et al. 2021). However, with rising global temperatures, it is possible that the substantial concentration of carbon in northern peatlands ( $40^\circ$ –  $70^\circ$  N) will show heightened CH<sub>4</sub> production as well (Dean et al. 2018). This increase in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions could led to a positive feedback loop: Emissions promote the greenhouse gas effect which increases global temperature and, in turn, promotes the production of more CH<sub>4</sub> (Curry 2007, Schädel et al. 2016, Dean et al. 2018). Extensive research has been conducted on CH<sub>4</sub> production, but few studies have examined the response of CH<sub>4</sub> consumption to increased temperatures in northern peatlands.

### **1.2 Methane Production**

Methane production (methanogenesis) can be classified into three types: thermogenic, pyrogenic, and biogenic (Monteil et al. 2011, Dean et al. 2018). Thermogenic methane is produced through deep sea vents, gas seeps, and the anthropogenic burning of fossil fuels like

coal, oil, and natural gas. These processes emit high rates of <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> relative to <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (Cicerone and Oremland 1988). Pyrogenic production occurs when there is incomplete combustion of organic matter during forest fires or the burning of biomass. It heavily favors the production of <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> and is 10% more enriched with <sup>13</sup>C than production from other sources (Schwietzke et al. 2016). Finally, biogenic production occurs when microbes generate CH<sub>4</sub> under anaerobic conditions. Conditions can be natural (wetlands), anthropogenic (rice paddies and wastewater treatment), or involve living creatures (rumens of livestock) (Bridgham et al. 2013). Microbes involved in biogenic production can also be present in deep sea vents although thermogenic production remains more prevalent (Dean et al. 2018). Like thermogenic production, biogenic sources tend to heavily favor <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> production (99%) which dilutes the concentration of <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> in the atmosphere (Conrad 2005, Monteil et al. 2011). Since this thesis examines emissions from wetlands, we will be primarily focusing on biogenic production.

For biogenic methanogenesis to occur, complex organic matter must first be depolymerized into simple substrates by enzymes, and then degraded into H<sub>2</sub> and acetate by fermenting bacteria (Reeburgh 2007, Borrel et al. 2011). Fermentation occurs when organic matter acts as both an electron donor and acceptor in anaerobic respiration to form alcohols, acids, and H<sub>2</sub> that are utilized in other reactions (Costa and Leigh 2014). The final step in biogenic methanogenesis is performed by anaerobic microbes (methanogens, domain Archaea). There are three distinct pathways utilized by methanogens: 1) Hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is the reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using H<sub>2</sub>, 2) acetoclastic methanogenesis is the cleavage of acetate into CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>, and 3) methylotrophic methanogenesis is the disproportionated reaction of carbon in a methyl group that is first reduced to methyl-coenzyme M before producing CH<sub>4</sub> (Canfield et al. 2005). Acetoclastic methanogenesis is the most important production pathway in boreal and temperate ecosystems; however, studies have also shown that hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis can produce between 0% - 100% of the CH<sub>4</sub> in freshwater ecosystems (Conrad 1999). Within peatlands, bogs typically have low rates of methanogenesis due to their low pH and highly recalcitrant organic matter derived from *Sphagnum* mosses and woody plant material. By contrast, fens have higher rates of methanogenesis as pH is higher and dissolved organic matter from sedges is more labile (Chanton et al. 2008, Ye et al. 2012).

In anaerobic environments, the biogenic mineralization of organic matter is not very energetically favorable since it has a relatively low energy yield (Megonigal et al. 2004). Methanogenesis can be limited as it competes for fermentation byproducts with inorganic terminal electron acceptors (TEAs): nitrate, ferric iron, manganese (III, IV), and sulfate (in order of thermodynamic favorability) (Megonigal et al. 2004). In addition, studies have shown that quinone moieties in humic substances act as TEAs (Lovley et al. 1996, Scott et al. 1998, Smemo and Yavitt 2007, Keller and Takagi 2013). As these reduction reactions are more energetically favorable and can be major inhibitors to methanogenesis, rates of methanogenesis remain low until favorable TEAs have been consumed (Canfield et al. 2005, Keller and Takagi 2013, Ye et al. 2014, Rush et al. 2021). In coastal wetlands, high levels of salinity have been shown to suppress methanogenesis (Poffenbarger et al. 2011), with salinity acting as a surrogate for sulfate concentrations. However, studies have shown peatlands tend to have low concentrations of inorganic TEAs (Keller and Bridgham 2007), although organic TEAs can be very important in these systems (Keller and Takagi 2013, Rush et al. 2021). Methylotrophic methanogenesis does not compete with TEAs for substrate uptake and is able to occur in ecosystems where TEAs are not yet depleted. Despite this, methylotrophic methanogenesis rates remain low in those

freshwater systems, and have only been shown to be important in saline systems (Lomans et al. 2001, Zalman et al. 2018).

Several other environmental factors can impact rates of methanogenesis. *Sphagnum* moss is known to secrete phenolic and aromatic compounds that are inhibitory to CH<sub>4</sub> production (Rasmussen et al. 1995, Ye et al. 2014). The leaching and decomposition of *Sphagnum* can also produce organic acids that lower peat pH where there are few basic cations to buffer the soil (Ye et al. 2012). This low pH can directly inhibit methanogenesis as well as decrease fermentative activity and thereby fermentation products like acetate (Ye et al. 2012). Recent studies have shown that *Sphagnum* cover might decrease under warmer and drier conditions. In the same warming experiment as this thesis (see below), *Sphagnum* decreased from 90% to 22% cover with a + 9 °C temperature increase (Norby et al. 2019). High rates of methanogenesis are also closely tied to high levels of rapid root turnover and root exudation. Root exudation can release labile organic compounds necessary for fermentation and thereby promote CH<sub>4</sub> production (Vann and Patrick Megonigal 2003). Long-term studies have shown that fine root production will increase under warming conditions perhaps promoting CH<sub>4</sub> production (Malhotra et al. 2020).

There are several ways that CH<sub>4</sub> can be emitted into the atmosphere: plant-mediated transport, ebullition, and diffusion. Plant-mediated transport refers to the movement of CH<sub>4</sub> through emergent plants' aerenchyma allowing it to bypass peat layers (Shannon et al. 1996). Ebullition (or bubble events) refers to the transport of dissolved CH<sub>4</sub> through bubbles from deep, saturated peat. Depending on the environment and season, ebullition can occur infrequently through large emission events or at a higher frequency through smaller emissions events (Glaser et al. 2004, Goodrich et al. 2011). Finally, CH<sub>4</sub> can also diffuse along a concentration gradient

which can be coupled with ebullition (Gogo et al. 2011). The frequency of all these events is increased in warmer months due to increased primary production allowing for higher rates of methanogenesis (Shannon et al. 1996, Gogo et al. 2011, Gill et al. 2017).

#### **1.3 Methane Consumption**

When CH4 loses electrons and becomes oxidized, it is converted into the less potent greenhouse gas, CO<sub>2</sub>. After emission from the environment, most CH4 is oxidized by hydroxyl radicals in the stratosphere (Megonigal et al. 2004). However, there is also a smaller CH4 sink through soil-residing microbes (methanotrophs) which oxidize CH4 through chemoautotrophy. Methanotrophs can be found in a variety of ecosystems. In wetlands, they are found most often near surface soil and in symbiotic relationships with *Sphagnum* moss. (Bridgham et al. 2013). The best known CH4 consumption pathway is aerobic oxidation. During diffusion from anaerobic soil to the atmosphere, CH4 can be oxidized by methanotrophs in surface aerobic environments. Along this pathway 40 – 70% of the gross CH4 produced might be consumed, regulating total CH4 emissions (Megonigal et al. 2004). As these methanotrophs can be substrate limited (O<sub>2</sub> and CH4), the highest consumption rates are found at the aerobic/anaerobic interface where both substrates are found in abundance (Megonigal et al. 2004). Globally, the highest CH4 consumption occurs in tropical and subtropical regions where there are high levels of soil moisture and warm temperatures (Curry 2007).

There are several phyla of aerobic methanotrophs: Gammaproteobacteria (type I), Alphaproteobacterial (type II), and Verrucomicrobia (Guerrero-Cruz et al. 2021). Type I have high rates of survival and fecundity under optimal conditions but do not respond well to disturbance and stress. By contrast, Type II have low rates of growth in optimal conditions but tend to survive well under stress (Hanson and Hanson 1996). Type II is more oligotrophic and

tends to outcompetes type I in low CH<sub>4</sub> conditions, but type I is favored under low O<sub>2</sub>/high CH<sub>4</sub> conditions. (Knief and Dunfield 2005). The more recently discovered Verrucomicrobia is believed to have significant impacts on aerobic consumption in volcanic and geothermal environments (Guerrero-Cruz et al. 2021). Aerobic pathways have been highly studied for decades, and until recently were thought to be the only terrestrial CH<sub>4</sub> consumption pathways.

In contrast to aerobic environments, CH<sub>4</sub> can also be oxidized in anaerobic environments through the anaerobic oxidation of methane (AOM). While marine environments represent only a fraction of the global CH<sub>4</sub> budget (~ 2%), they provide valuable insights into anaerobic CH<sub>4</sub> flux (Canfield et al. 2005, Saunois et al. 2020). Rates of methanogenesis are low in marine environments since methanogens are typically found deep in the water column where there are low concentrations of dissolved organic matter (Reeburgh 2007). However, studies have found that modest rates of methanogenesis can occur in deep marine sediments where substrates are more available (Treude et al. 2005). As in terrestrial environments, methanogenesis is an energetically unfavorable process, and methanogens have difficulty outcompeting other microbes for substrates (Reeburgh 2007). In marine systems, where the most common competitor is sulfate reducers, methanogenesis can typically only occurs when sulfate is exhausted from the system (Reeburgh 2007). Concentrations of sulfate decrease at deeper depths, but so do substrates, allowing for limited methanogenesis (Canfield et al. 2005). Hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is the main production process since acetate is commonly depleted by sulfate reducers (Reeburgh 2007).

By contrast, AOM works in combination with sulfate reduction and is commonly found at the interface of CH<sub>4</sub> and sulfate concentrations in marine sediments (Canfield et al. 2005). In this process, CH<sub>4</sub> acts as an electron donor to reduce sulfate to hydrosulfide (Canfield et al. 2005).

Studies have found that up to 85% of the CH<sub>4</sub> produced in marine environments is consumed through AOM in the water column (Reeburgh 2007). These rates are in part dependent on sulfate, CH<sub>4</sub>, and O<sub>2</sub> concentrations and can vary by season, depth, and salinity (Treude et al. 2005). Until recently, AOM was thought to only occur in marine environments as sulfate is quickly consumed in freshwater systems leading to low concentrations (Canfield et al. 2005).

While there have been extensive studies on aerobic oxidation and AOM in marine systems, limited research has been conducted on the impact of AOM in freshwater ecosystems. Recent studies have shown that AOM is not only coupled with the reduction of sulfate, but also with the reduction of nitrate, ferric iron, manganese, humic acid, and other TEAs (Smemo and Yavitt 2007, Beal et al. 2009, Valenzuela et al. 2017, Fan et al. 2020). Despite this new interest in freshwater AOM, there has been no consensus on the importance of AOM in freshwater CH<sub>4</sub> flux. AOM rates vary widely among sites, seasons, studies, and methodologies (Table 1). Previous freshwater studies have shown that AOM consumes between -2 - 284% of the CH<sub>4</sub> produced (Table 1). Thus, the importance of AOM in freshwater systems remains speculative and based on only a few studies.

The importance of AOM in CH<sub>4</sub> cycling merits further examination in the context of a globally changing climate. Previous studies have shown that as temperature rises, so do methanogenesis and overall CH<sub>4</sub> emissions as primary production and decomposition increase (Bridgham and Richardson 1992, Updegraff et al. 2001, Yvon-Durocher et al. 2014). Although increasing temperature has not been found to change the relative methanogen abundance, it might allow for more optimal methanogenic growth conditions (Zeikus and Winfrey 1976, Wilson et al. 2016, Hopple et al. 2020). Aerobic methanotrophs also show a temperature preference with models showing that a 5 °C global temperature increase would result in an 8%

increase in mean annual uptake because of changes in both temperature and soil moisture (Curry 2007). Methanotrophs in anaerobic hydrothermal vents and sediments were also found to be temperature sensitive (Kallmeyer and Boetius 2004). While this information cannot be directly transferred to mesophiles, it indicates that freshwater methanotrophs might also be temperature sensitive. Studies have shown increases in potential marine AOM up to 20 °C (Treude et al. 2005), but it has not yet been determined if temperature is a major driver of freshwater AOM relative to CH4 production.

Study	Length of	AOM Rate (umol/ g	% of Gross CH4
	Incubation	dry peat/ day	Production
			Consumed by AOM
Gupta et al. 2013	40 days	Mean (overall): 0.13	Mean (overall): 37.5
		Mean (fens): 0.17	Mean (fens): 28.4
		Range (fens): 0.10 -	Range (fens): 3 -
		0.41	115.7
		Mean (bogs): 0.067	Mean (bogs): 47.1
		Range (bogs): 0.022 -	Range (bogs): -2 -
		0.099	284
Blazewicz et al.	~ 80 days	Mean (overall): 0.012	Mean: 0.5
2012		Mean (Alaska): 0.021	Range: 0.3 - 0.8
		Mean (Puerto Rico):	
		0.0029	
Miller et al. 2019	40 days	Mean: 2.32	Mean: 29.5
			Range: 25 - 34
Martinez-Cruz et al.	204 days	Mean: 0.11	Mean: 32
2017			
Segarra et al. 2015	1 day	Mean (overall): 0.13	Mean: 91.3
		Range: 0.10 - 1.71	Range: 78.1 - 98.9
Smemo and Yavitt	15 days	Mean: 1.47	Mean: 41.7
2007		Range: 0.086 - 15.2	Range: 17.4 - 63.5

**Table 1:** Length of incubation, AOM rates, and percentage of gross  $CH_4$  produced consumed by AOM in 5 recent studies Adapted from McCullough et al., 2019.

#### **1.4 Previous AOM Methodology**

As discussed above, AOM rates are highly varied in previous research on freshwater ecosystems, and this may be partially due to inconsistent experimental design among studies. Some previous analyses of AOM in freshwater environments used long incubation periods and indirect methods to estimate rates (Table 1). Long incubation times allow for the buildup of CH4, which may partially explain rate discrepancies among experiments. Stable isotope tracers (<sup>13</sup>CH4 and <sup>14</sup>CH4) are commonly used to measure AOM (Blazewicz et al. 2012, Segarra et al. 2015). Prior experiments with <sup>13</sup>CH4 used a GC mass spectrometer (Smemo and Yavitt 2007, Gupta et al. 2013, Valenzuela et al. 2017), but cavity ring-down spectrometers are becoming more widely available. This is the first experiment to our knowledge to use a cavity ring-down spectroscopy to determine AOM rates.

Many previous experiments have studied AOM *in vitro* by creating a peat and porewater slurry (typically 1:1) and sometimes injecting CH<sub>4</sub> into the headspace (Smemo and Yavitt 2007, Gupta et al. 2013, Hopple 2018). Henry's Law indicates that CH<sub>4</sub> is relatively insoluble in water (0.0014 and 0.033, Henry's Law constants for CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> at 298 °K, respectively), so we have hypothesized that the addition of porewater creates a diffusional barrier that limits the methanotrophs' access to headspace CH<sub>4</sub> (Fig. 1). As a result, researchers may be underestimating AOM rates. *In situ*, CH<sub>4</sub> is unlikely to be a limiting resource as most wetlands have high concentrations of porewater CH<sub>4</sub>. Concentrations can be so ubiquitous in porewater that it rises to the surface in ebullition bubbles (as discussed above) (Smemo and Yavitt 2007). Thus, the current *in vitro* experiments may not be good representation of what is occurring *in situ*.



**Figure 1.** (a) Portrayal of potential porewater impact. Porewater limits diffusion of CH<sub>4</sub> from the headspace and availability to methanotrophs. (b) In the absence of porewater, CH<sub>4</sub> can be easily accessed by methanotrophs.

A previous study compared net CH<sub>4</sub> production and consumption in peat from our study site (Chapter 3) and found that surface samples with porewater addition produced CH<sub>4</sub> whereas without added porewater net CH<sub>4</sub> consumption occurred (Fig. 2, Hopple 2018). This was hypothesized to be due to the diffusional barrier of the added porewater. However, this study was limited by not directly measuring AOM, but we directly tested the impact of porewater on rates of AOM across temperatures and depths (Chapter 3). We have hypothesized that without the addition of porewater, more CH<sub>4</sub> is available for consumption by methanotrophs which more accurately reflects the conditions *in situ*.



**Figure 2.** Net CH<sub>4</sub> production and consumption across depth with and without the addition of porewater (Hopple 2018).

#### **1.5 Hypotheses**

This thesis tests three main hypotheses: 1) in a northern peatland ecosystem, AOM will consume a significant percentage of CH<sub>4</sub> production and partially regulate total CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, 2) AOM and gross CH<sub>4</sub> production rates will be temperature sensitive and will increase proportionally across a temperature gradient, and 3) the addition of porewater creates a diffusional barrier and depresses methanotrophs' access to CH<sub>4</sub> in the headspace, thus underrepresenting rates of AOM *in situ*.

One of our main objectives in this manuscript was to examine AOM in response to temperature. Chapter 2, "Pilot experiment" verifies the <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> tracer method, determines the optimal time to measure AOM, and provides preliminary evidence for temperature-dependency for AOM microbes.

Chapter 3 is titled "Long-term warming increases AOM rates". This chapter built off research in the prior chapter by examining AOM in response to long-term warming. Chapter 3 was conducted in an ombrotrophic peat bog at SPRUCE where a whole ecosystem warming and

CO<sub>2</sub> enhancement experiment is occurring. Our objective was to determine the role of AOM in CH<sub>4</sub> cycling and the relative importance of temperature, depth, elevated CO<sub>2</sub>, and water saturation on rates of production and anaerobic consumption in a northern peatland. All chapters of this thesis were made possible with contributions from co-author, Scott Bridgham. We intend to publish Chapter 3 with co-authors Laura McCullough, Anya Hopple, and Jason Keller.

#### 2. PILOT EXPERIMENT

The laboratory and field work for this chapter was conducted by Scott Bridgham and myself based on methodology developed by Scott Bridgham and Laura McCullough. I preformed the calculations, data analysis, and visualizations for this chapter. Text edits were provided by Scott Bridgham. This experiment served as a test for our methodology and preliminary data for temperature impacts on AOM and CH<sub>4</sub> production rates.

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Understanding temperature effects on carbon cycling is of the utmost importance as global temperatures continue to increase. With a changing global environment, the most recent IPCC report predicts losses in biodiversity, nutrient overloading, loss of habitat for endangered species, and other devasting impacts on freshwater ecosystems (Caretta et al. 2022). Perhaps the most concerning aspect of climatic shifts is the impact on greenhouse gas flux and the potential ensuing positive feedback loop (Dean et al. 2018). The potent greenhouse gas, methane (CH4), typically has high production rates in anaerobic wetland environments and has a sustained global warming potential 45 times that of CO<sub>2</sub> over 100 years despite having a lower atmospheric lifetime (Neubauer and Megonigal 2015). While studies have researched the impact of increased temperature on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, little is understood about the underlying anaerobic microbial pathways that ultimately determine CH<sub>4</sub> production and consumption in freshwater ecosystems.

The production of CH<sub>4</sub> (methanogenesis) can occur in several different ways. These can be anthropogenic (through agriculture, the burning of fossil fuels, wastewater treatment, etc.) or natural (through forest fires, deep sea vents, biogenic production by microbes in wetlands) (Bridgham et al. 2013, Schwietzke et al. 2016). Methanogenesis by microbes (methanogens) occurs through the degradation of organic matter in anaerobic environments and provides the microbes with products necessary for their metabolism (Canfield et al. 2005). Since this

fermentation process has a relatively low energy yield, it is typically outcompeted by microbes for terminal electron acceptors (TEAs): (nitrite, ferric iron, manganese III and IV, and sulfate, in order of thermodynamic favorability) (Megonigal et al. 2004, Reeburgh 2007). More recent studies have also shown quinone moieties in humic compounds also act as TEAs (Keller and Takagi 2013). Since methanogens are usually outcompeted in these systems, rates of methanogenesis usually remain low until concentrations of favorable TEAs have been reduced (Ye et al. 2014, Rush et al. 2021). Methanogenesis can also be sensitive to environmental pH, root exudation, salinity, and soil carbon lability (Vann and Patrick Megonigal 2003, Ye et al. 2012).

When CH<sub>4</sub> is oxidized and loses electrons, it is converted into CO<sub>2</sub>, a less potent greenhouse gas. While most CH<sub>4</sub> is oxidized in the stratosphere by hydroxyl radials, there are also consumption pathways by soil-residing microbes (methanotrophs) (Megonigal et al. 2004). Previous studies have shown that aerobic oxidation is an important regulator of CH<sub>4</sub> flux and can consume 40 – 70% of CH<sub>4</sub> along the diffusion pathway (Megonigal et al. 2004). Yet, limited research has been conducted on the importance of the anaerobic oxidation of methane (AOM). AOM methanotrophs form symbiotic relationships with other microbes to utilize TEAs and oxidize CH<sub>4</sub>; thus high levels of TEAs typically result in high levels of consumption (Canfield et al. 2005). Until recently, AOM was thought to only occur with sulfate reducers in marine environments (Canfield et al. 2005), but studies have shown that AOM can occur in freshwater systems with many TEAs (see above) (Smemo and Yavitt 2007, Beal et al. 2009). Knowledge remains limited about AOM processes in freshwater ecosystems, yet this information is crucial in predicting CH<sub>4</sub> consumption under global warming regimes.

As well, in working to understand CH<sub>4</sub> flux, all pertinent environments must be considered. A recent study found that freshwater fluvial sources account for ~ 17% of inland water fluxes (Saunois et al. 2020). Yet, limited research has been conducted on CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from these systems. Estimates have placed global fluvial emissions around 1.5 Tg CH<sub>4</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Bastviken et al. 2011), but this study suffers from a low sample size and measured area. A more recent study found that fluvial sources emit approximately 15% of what wetlands emit with an average global emission rate of 26.8 Tg CH<sub>4</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Stanley et al. 2016). Given that temperature does not work in isolation, there has not been conclusive evidence that increases in fluvial temperature impact CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (Stanley et al. 2016). However, given studies from other environments show increases in emissions with temperature (Updegraff et al. 2001, Yvon-Durocher et al. 2014), it seems likely that fluvial emissions will also increase under warmed conditions. Fluvial systems are a potentially underrepresented CH<sub>4</sub> source that might be impacted by changes in global temperature. Here, we seek to address how temperature might affect rates of CH<sub>4</sub> production and consumption under anaerobic conditions in a temperate fluvial system.

This pilot experiment tested the optimal time to measure AOM and was used to reverify the stable isotope tracer method of injecting <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> to measure CH<sub>4</sub> production and consumption. Determining the optimal time to measure AOM allows us to maximize sensitivity to AOM rates while minimizing microbial biomass turnover. The stable isotope tracer methods has been utilized in other studies (Blazewicz et al. 2012), but not with a cavity ring-down spectrometer, and we used this experiment to ensure its success before starting the experiment at SPRUCE described in Chapter 3.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### **2.2.1 Site Description**

This study was conducted at Millrace Creek, Eugene, Oregon, USA. It is a fluvial system on the University of Oregon campus with a loose, silty sediment riverbed. This 1.33 mile stream was diverted from the Willamette River and historically used as a waterpower source for a local sawmill (See et al. 2019). As the flow is controlled by the Willamette River, the water level can vary dramatically, but the creek is on average 40 ft wide with a depth of less than 2 ft (See et al. 2019). While there is a mix of native and invasive herbaceous plants and trees, the most dominant species are *Fraxinus latifolia*, *Acer macrophylum*, *Psuedotsuga menziesii*, *Populus balsamifera*, and *Thuja plicata* (See et al. 2019). Due to the creek's close proximity to human developments, it has excess nutrient concentrations, low dissolved oxygen levels, high concentrations of heavy metals, and a fluctuating pH (See et al. 2019). It serves as stormwater runoff during the wet season and is not known to provide a habitat for large aquatic fauna (See et al. 2019).

#### **2.2.2 Sample Collection**

Since the primary motivation for this experiment was to verify the AOM stable isotope tracer method, there was no temporal or spatial replication. Sediment samples (20 g) were collected in October 2020 from the Millrace riverbed ~ 3 feet from the bank and under ~ 1 foot of water. Samples were collected at one timepoint during midmorning. Centrifuge tubes (50 mL) were filled to the top to limit  $O_2$  exposure and quickly transferred to 120 mL serum bottles with blue butyl rubber stoppers. All bottles were N<sub>2</sub>-flushed for 15 minutes to remove any O<sub>2</sub> contamination and injected with 19.4 mL N<sub>2</sub> to over-pressurize samples. *In situ* water temperature was 11 °C.

#### 2.2.3 Laboratory Methods

Samples were divided into two equal groups and injected with 0.60 mL <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> or <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (timepoint 0) for a target headspace concentration of 1000 ppm. Samples (3 replicates per temperature and isotope treatment) were incubated at one of five temperatures (12, 16, 18, 20, 24 °C). A malfunction changed an incubation temperature form 8 °C to 18 °C, leaving increments unevenly spaced. After 7 hours (timepoint 1), 1 mL was pulled from each sample and run on an SRI gas chromatograph model 8610C with a flame ionization detector and methanizer. An additional 1 mL was pulled from the sample and injected into a 120 mL N<sub>2</sub>-flushed serum bottle over-pressurized with 19 mL of  $N_2$  for later analysis on a Picarro G2201-i analyzer for isotopic CO<sub>2</sub>/CH<sub>4</sub> with the small stable isotope module (SSIM) attached. Samples (10 mL) were injected into the SSIM for isotopic analysis. Gas analysis was run on all samples again after 24 hours (timepoint 2) and 48 hours (timepoint 3) to determine how timing might impact measured rates of CH<sub>4</sub> production and consumption. Dead controls were used to verify the recovery of injected headspace CH4. Controls were produced by adding autoclaved deionized water (20 mL) to a 120 mL serum bottle and injecting <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (to a final headspace concentration of 1000 ppm). Controls were only run on the gas chromatograph after 48 hours.

Moisture content was determined by drying 20 g subsamples in a drying oven at 60 °C for several days. Average pH (7.22) was determined upon collection by using a pH probe on 3 sediment samples.

#### **2.2.4 Calculations**

This experiment used the stable isotope tracer method where <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> samples controlled for background rates of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production (Blazewicz et al. 2012). While biogenic methanogenesis strongly favors the production of <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (~ 99%) versus <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (~ 1%) (Conrad 2005), AOM only marginally prefers to utilize <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (Wilson et al. 2019). We injected samples

with <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> to measure <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production over time, which allowed us to measure anaerobic oxidation of <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub>. Background controls (samples with <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> injected) were created so we could correct for differences in background production of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>. Net CH<sub>4</sub> was found by calculating the change in CH<sub>4</sub> concentration over the course of the experiment.

Equation 1: AOM rate for pilot experiment

$$AOM = \frac{({}^{13}CO_{2,T1,L} - {}^{13}CO_{2,T1,B}) \times (CH_{4,ave})}{({}^{13}CH_{4,ave}) \times g \ dry \ weight \times (T1 - T0)}$$

Equation 2: Net CH<sub>4</sub> production rate for pilot experiment

$$Net \ CH_4 \ Production \ = \ \frac{(CH_{4,T1})}{g \ dry \ weight \ \times \ (T1 \ - \ T0)}$$

Where <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2, T1, L</sub> is the <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production in the <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub>-labeled samples from T0 to T1;

<sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2, T1, B</sub> is the background <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production in <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub>-injected samples from T0 to T1;

- CH<sub>4, ave</sub> is the average total CH<sub>4</sub> concentration from T0 to T1;
- <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4, ave</sub> is the average <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> concentration between T0 and T1;

T0 and T are timepoints 0 and 1, respectively.

Equations were repeated for T2, T3, T0 - T3, and T1 - T3.

#### 2.2.5 Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were completed using mixed linear effects model in R (package lme4, version 1.3.1073) to determine the significance of temperature (fixed) and time (random) on

rates of AOM, CH<sub>4</sub> production, and CO<sub>2</sub> production. Distributions of rates were examined, and CO<sub>2</sub> production was logged to improve its normality. Timepoints were treated as a categorical variable and significant differences (p < 0.05) among timepoints were found using a Tukey's test. Timepoints represent the rates that occurred since the previous timepoint (e.g., T1 indicates the rate from T0 to T1). Negative AOM values were assumed to be random variation around our detection limit.

## 2.3 Results

Anaerobic oxidation of CH<sub>4</sub> varied little across temperature (p = 0.56) with many values below detection (Fig. 3). However, the interaction between time and temperature marginally impacted AOM (p = 0.067). AOM consumed only a small percentage of CH<sub>4</sub> produced (-2.84% to 5.21%). The negative values were likely due to random noise in the procedure. Two <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub>labeled samples had net negative CH<sub>4</sub> production and positive CO<sub>2</sub> production suggesting the differences were real and AOM occurred.

In contrast to AOM, net CH<sub>4</sub> production increased with temperature across all the timepoints (p = 0.042, Fig. 4), although temperature explained little of the variation in production ( $R^2 = 0.09$ ). We found no difference in CO<sub>2</sub> production across temperatures (Fig. 5, p = 0.21), and CO<sub>2</sub> production was roughly double the production of CH<sub>4</sub>.



**Figure 3.** AOM rates plotted against temperatures (12 - 24 °C). Color indicates experimental timepoint. Ex. T0\_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3.



**Figure 4.** Net CH<sub>4</sub> production rates plotted against temperatures (12 –24 °C). Color indicates experimental timepoint. Ex. T0\_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3.



**Figure 5.**  $CO_2$  production rates plotted against temperatures (12 – 24 °C). Color indicates experimental timepoint. Ex. T0\_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3.

One of the primary goals of this methods experiment was to determine the optimal time to measure AOM. Anaerobic oxidation of CH<sub>4</sub> decreased over time (p = 0.048) with most rates below detection at T3 (Fig. 6). CH<sub>4</sub> was highest at T1 and constant across all other timepoints (Fig. 7, p < 0.001). CO<sub>2</sub> production showed the most variability with the highest production at T1 and lowest rates at T3 and T1-T3 (Fig. 8, p < 0.001).



Figure 6. AOM rates across all experimental timepoints. Ex. T0\_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3.



Figure 7. CH<sub>4</sub> production rates across all experimental timepoints. Ex. T0\_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3.


Figure 8. CO<sub>2</sub> production rates across all experimental timepoints. Ex. T0\_T3 indicates the time from T0 to T3. 2.4 Discussion

Rates were not as responsive to a relatively instantaneous change in temperature as we anticipated. Although CH<sub>4</sub> production significantly increased with rising temperature, it explained little variation, and temperature had no effect on AOM and CO<sub>2</sub> production. Longer-term warming studies have shown that rising temperatures increases methanogenesis due to the increased degradation of organic matter, greater availability of fermentation products, and increased microbial growth (Curry 2007, Hopple et al. 2020). As well, previous studies have shown that CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> production in wetlands generally increase with temperature to an optimum, but production can be detectable at much lower temperatures (Metje and Frenzel 2005, Kolton et al. 2019). However, given the relatively short time span for the study, it is unlikely that increasing temperature would allow for optimum microbial growth (Schulz and Conrad 1996, Gill et al. 2017). The high rates of methanogenesis might indicate that there are low

concentrations of TEAs at Mill Race (Megonigal et al. 2004). If that is the case, AOM might be limited as there is a lack of TEAs to complete the redox reaction.

The limited temperature impact could be in part explained by the abrupt increase in temperature post-collection. Microbial communities sometimes take time to adapt to warmer conditions and might have already been adjusted to the *in situ* temperature. Furthermore, sample collection took place in late fall and *in situ* sediment temperature was lower than what some studies regard as optimal for microbial activity in freshwater ecosystems (Zeikus and Winfrey 1976, Kolton et al. 2019). Since temperature changes were relatively instantaneous, there were no cascading ecosystem effects on vegetation, water table, and nutrient availability which could have strong impact on microbial processes (Wilson et al. 2016, Hopple et al. 2020).

Rates of AOM, net CH<sub>4</sub> production, and CO<sub>2</sub> production were all significantly impacted by the length of incubation. The highest rates of production and consumption occurred after 7 hours and leveled off at 24 and 48 hours. As we did not inject CO<sub>2</sub> into our samples, we can feel reasonably confident that the CO<sub>2</sub> production rates are real. Greater CH<sub>4</sub> production at 7 hours could be driven by decreased substrate availability at latter timepoints or a larger injection of CH<sub>4</sub> into the headspace at the beginning of the experiment than we planned. The results from our deionized water controls support this as they were all consistently higher than expected. It is also possible that the decrease in production over time was real and, like CO<sub>2</sub> production, driven by decreasing substrate availability. AOM was less significantly impacted by timing and differences in rates could be in part explained by the decrease in CH<sub>4</sub> production over time, as CH<sub>4</sub> concentration is part of the equation used to measure AOM. Based on the results of this experiment, we measured rates after 48 hours in the subsequent experiment in Chapter 3. This was deemed an optimal time to maximize our sensitivity to measure AOM while minimizing the

likelihood of microbial biomass turnover contributing to recovered <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> after labeling. We also found that the large sample-to-sample variation in total CO<sub>2</sub> production reduced our sensitivity to AOM. In the following study, we use samples prior to <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> injection to measure background rates of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production instead of separate <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> controls which showed great variability.

It is of note that the sediments had higher rates of methanogenesis than what is typically measured at the SPRUCE location used during the subsequent experiment (Gill et al. 2017, Kolton et al. 2019). However, unlike the Chapter 3 site location, the temperature in this experiment was not changed *in situ* over many years and only adjusted for the samples after they had been collected and placed in incubators. The SPRUCE location allowed us to investigate system-wide, long-term temperature changes that have permeated through the ecosystem to get a better idea of sustained temperature effects on anaerobic carbon cycling.

## **2.5 Conclusion**

Few studies have examined rates of CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM in fluvial ecosystems. Here we showed that temperature had a minor impact on CH<sub>4</sub> production and no effect on CO<sub>2</sub> production and AOM. It is possible that the microbes were already adjusted to their *in situ* temperature and sudden warming had a minimal impact on overall production rates. The timing of sampling impacted CH<sub>4</sub> production and consumption, but rates stabilized after 7 hours. Production rates might have been higher due to differences in planned headspace CH<sub>4</sub> injections at the beginning of the incubation or decreased concentrations of labile substrate over time. This study helped us determine that 48 hours was the optimal time to measure AOM in Chapter 3, because it allows us to maximize sensitivity to AOM while minimizing the possibility of microbial biomass turnover. Importantly, this approach also allowed us to reverify that the <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> tracer method can measure even very low rates of AOM before starting Chapter 3 of this thesis.

## **3. LONG-TERM WARMING INCREASES AOM RATES**

The laboratory and field work for this chapter was conducted by Scott Bridgham and myself based on methodology developed by Laura McCullough and research conducted by Anya Hopple and Jason Keller. I preformed the calculations, data analysis, and visualizations for this chapter. Text edits were provided by Scott Bridgham.

## **3.1 Introduction**

Wetlands are the largest natural emitter of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), a highly potent greenhouse gas with the potential to exacerbate climate change. Despite having a lower atmospheric residency than CO<sub>2</sub> (~10 years vs 100 years, respectively), CH<sub>4</sub> has 45 times the sustained flux global warming potential over a 100 year time frame (Neubauer and Megonigal 2015). While most CH<sub>4</sub> emissions come from anthropogenic sources (land usage, burning of fossil fuels, wastewater treatment, etc.), wetlands are responsible for ~ 20% of global CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (Bridgham et al. 2013, Saunois et al. 2020). There has been particular concern for how CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from northern peatlands will respond to changing climate. While peatlands cover just 3% of the global surface, they are responsible for storing massive amounts of soil carbon in deep organic peat (Bridgham et al. 2013). Bloom et al. (2010)suggested that most increases in global CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from 2003 to 2007 can be attributed to increases in northern peatlands, but the mechanics behind CH<sub>4</sub> flux in these northern peatlands are not completely understood.

Biogenic CH<sub>4</sub> production (methanogenesis) occurs when complex organic matter is degraded into simple substrates by enzymes and fermenting bacteria in an anaerobic environment (Borrel et al. 2011). As methanogenesis is not an energetically favorable process, it is typically outcompeted by other microbes utilizing terminal electron acceptors (TEAs) to consume fermentative substrates (CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, and acetate) (Canfield et al. 2005, Costa and Leigh 2014).

Studies have found that sulfate, nitrite, manganese (III and IV), ferric iron, and humic compounds can act as TEAs and suppress methanogenesis (Megonigal et al. 2004, Keller and Takagi 2013). Methanogenesis can also be limited by recalcitrant soil organic matter, acidic soil, and low root turnover (Vann and Patrick Megonigal 2003, Chanton et al. 2008, Ye et al. 2012, 2014). In soil, CH<sub>4</sub> can be emitted through plant-mediated transport, ebullition, and diffusion (Shannon et al. 1996, Gogo et al. 2011).

Soil-residing methanotrophs can consume CH<sub>4</sub> and oxidize it into the less potent greenhouse gas, CO<sub>2</sub> (Megonigal et al. 2004). While methanotrophs can exist in many environments, in peatlands they are found most often in surface peat and in symbiotic relationships with Sphagnum (Bridgham et al. 2013). Aerobic methanotrophy is regarded as major regulator of  $CH_4$  emissions and can consume 40 - 70% of the  $CH_4$  produced in soils (Megonigal et al. 2004). However, there is another oxidation pathway known as the anaerobic oxidation of methane (AOM), first discovered in marine environments where it is coupled with the reduction of sulfate into hydrosulfide (Canfield et al. 2005). AOM in marine environments can also control CH<sub>4</sub> emissions with a recent study finding that AOM sometimes consumes up to 85% of the CH<sub>4</sub> produced in marine water columns (Reeburgh 2007). It was widely believed that AOM only occurred in marine systems, because freshwater environments typically have low concentrations of sulfate (Canfield et al. 2005). However, recent studies have shown that AOM frequently occurs in freshwater systems with many different TEAs, both inorganic and organic (Smemo and Yavitt 2007, Beal et al. 2009, Valenzuela et al. 2017). Despite extensive knowledge on aerobic oxidation and marine AOM, data about AOM in freshwater systems remains inconclusive and highly varied. Here, we seek to understand the importance of AOM in freshwater CH<sub>4</sub> cycling.

The most recent IPCC report found that CH<sub>4</sub> emissions have the potential to increase with climate warming from carbon-rich wetland soils (Caretta et al. 2022). Yet, studies examining AOM consumption of CH<sub>4</sub> production remain inconclusive as to its relative importance (see Chapter 1) with AOM varying widely among sites, methodologies, and even within studies. Given that AOM in aerobic and marine environments are major regulators of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, we seek to understand the role of AOM in freshwater ecosystems. Moreover, there is evidence that increasing temperature will increase methanotrophy in aerobic sediments, marine sediments, and hydrothermal vents (Kallmeyer and Boetius 2004, Treude et al. 2005, Curry 2007), but to our knowledge, no study has examined the response of AOM in freshwater systems to increasing temperatures. While this evidence on methanotrophy in other environments is not directly transferable, it indicates that AOM in freshwater ecosystems might also be temperature sensitive. In order to more fully understand how wetlands will respond to changing global temperatures, here we have examined AOM and its relationship to CH<sub>4</sub> production under warmed conditions in a northern bog.

Prior understanding of how greenhouse gas emissions will change under warming conditions have mostly relied on short-term experiments that do not consider cascading ecological effects. To remedy this, the SPRUCE (Spruce and Peatland Responses Under Changing Environments) experiment seeks to understand how warming and elevated CO<sub>2</sub> conditions will impact northern peatland ecosystems over the course of ten years. This whole ecosystem warming experiment heats vegetation and peat aboveground and belowground across a temperature gradient. A study conducted at SPRUCE after three years of warming showed increased CH<sub>4</sub> production and emissions under warmed conditions, especially in more surface-

level peat (Hopple et al. 2020). However, it is not yet understood how AOM will be impacted under long-term warming conditions.

Finally, many laboratory studies examining anaerobic carbon dynamics, including most AOM experiments, create a slurry of peat and porewater in a serum bottle. A prior study observed net CH<sub>4</sub> production vs. consumption in samples with and without added porewater, respectively, in samples from SPRUCE (Hopple 2018). Since CH<sub>4</sub> is relatively insoluble, we have hypothesized that the porewater creates a diffusional barrier that slows transfer of CH<sub>4</sub> in the headspace to AOM microbes. If that is the case, experiments with added porewater might be underrepresenting AOM and conversely overestimating net CH<sub>4</sub> production. As well, in our laboratory design, we use cavity ring-down spectroscopy to determine AOM rates. This experiment is the first to our knowledge to use this methodology.

In this study, we have hypothesized that 1) in a northern peatland ecosystem, AOM will consume a significant percentage of CH<sub>4</sub> production and partially regulate total CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, 2) AOM and gross CH<sub>4</sub> production rates will be temperature sensitive and will increase proportionally across a temperature gradient, and 3) the addition of porewater creates a diffusional barrier and depresses methanotrophs' access to CH<sub>4</sub> in the headspace, thus underrepresenting rates of AOM *in situ*.

## 3.2 Methods

### **3.2.1 Site Description**

Our study site is S-1 Bog in Marcell Experimental Forest in northern Minnesota, USA at the border of temperate deciduous and boreal ecosystems (N 47° 30.476'; W 93° 27.162'). This site is classified as an ombrotrophic bog, and the vegetation is predominantly black spruce (*Picea mariana*), *Sphagnum* spp. mosses, and ericaceous shrubs (Hanson et al. 2017). The peat is

on average 2 to 3 m deep with 90% older than 3,000 years (Hanson et al. 2017). S-1 Bog was strip-cut in 1969 and 1974 to examine tree regrowth following logging.

The S-1 Bog is characterized by an acrotelm (0 - 30 cm) of living moss, roots, and fresh organic litter. This relatively young layer has high rates of decomposition, high hydraulic activity, and a fluctuating water table. Due to the high proportion of soil organic matter derived from Sphagnum, which has lower N content than vascular plants, the acrotelm has a high C:N ratio (Tfaily et al. 2014). This surface is highly acidic with a pH of ~ 4 vs ~ 6 at 3 m depth (Griffiths and Sebestyen 2016). The mesotelm (30 - 75 cm) has less frequent water table fluctuations and intense decomposition. The low C:N ratio is due in part to N immobilization in biomass and the formation of stable fulvic and humic compounds with high N levels (Tfaily et al. 2014). The highest rates of humification are seen in this mesotelm transition zone. The catotelm (>75 cm) is peat that is permanently water-saturated and acts as long-term storage for organic matter and carbon (Tfaily et al. 2014). In S-1 Bog, the catotelm has low decomposition rates and C:N ratios consistent with the mesotelm (Tfaily et al. 2014). There are high levels of vertical hydrology in S-1 Bog so the labile dissolved organic carbon found in more surface peat can move into deeper layers with relative ease (Tfaily et al. 2018). Microbes preferentially decompose this labile peat over the recalcitrant, older, deeper peat (Tfaily et al. 2014).

There is great variation in carbon flux among plots in S-1 Bog, so it has yet to be confirmed if the site acts as a net carbon source or sink (Griffiths et al. 2017). The carbon stock of the upper 2 m of S-1 Bog is 158 kg C m<sup>-2</sup> which falls within the average rage for peatlands (Griffiths et al. 2017). With regards to CH<sub>4</sub> production, a recent study found high abundances of hydrogenotrophic and methylotrophic methanogens across plots (Kolton et al. 2019).

## **3.2.2 The SPRUCE Experiment**

The SPRUCE (Spruce and Peatland Responses Under Changing Environments) experiment is a ten-year experiment, led by Oak Ridge National Laboratory and designed to determine the impact of increased temperatures and elevated CO<sub>2</sub> on peatland function both above and belowground. Deep peat warming began in summer 2014, ecosystem warming began in summer 2015, and elevated CO<sub>2</sub> levels began in summer 2016 (Hanson et al. 2017).



**Figure 9.** Aerial view of SPRUCE S-1 Bog. Chamber temperatures are shown in colored legend. (Hanson et al., 2017)

Chambers (7 m tall x 12.8 m diameter) have temperatures set to +0, +2.25, +4.5, +6.75, and +9 °C above ambient and CO<sub>2</sub> at ambient or approximately twice ambient at each of the 5 temperature manipulations (Fig. 9). Chambers are open-top and heated aboveground using forced air and belowground (to 3 m depth) using electric resistance cables (Hanson et al. 2017).

## **3.2.3 Sample Collection**

Samples were collected in July 2021 from the SPRUCE chambers. A periodic drought occurred prior to sampling so water tables were depressed, especially in heated plots. Peat samples (20 g) were collected at five depths (20 - 30, 30 - 50, 50 - 75, 100 - 125, and 175 - 200 cm) from each plot. (From here on out, depths will be referred to by the deepest depth in each increment.) A Russian corer was used for deeper depths and a serrated knife was used for the 30 cm increment. An additional peat sample (20 g) was collected for the porewater addition treatment (see below). Upon collection, samples were placed in 120 mL serum bottle capped with blue butyl rubber stopper and N<sub>2</sub> flushed within five minutes of collection to maintain anaerobic conditions. Extra peat samples were collected from each depth and placed in watertight plastic bags for moisture determination.

PVC piezometers with 1.25 cm diameters (at 25, 50, 75, 100, 150, and 200 cm depths) were flushed the day before porewater collection. Porewater samples (60 mL) were collected using a peristaltic pump from the first two piezometers that contained water in each plot. We intended to collect from the 25 and 50 cm depths, but a majority of the 25 cm piezometers were dry. Most porewater samples (70%) were collected from 50 and 75 cm depths with 15% from deeper depths and 15% from the 25 cm piezometer. Porewater was later added to peat samples of the same depth (see 3.2.4 Laboratory Methods) while holding all else constant to determine the impact of porewater on CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM. Samples were placed in 70 mL serum bottles, capped, and N<sub>2</sub>-flushed. All samples were then put on ice for shipment back to Eugene, Oregon, USA for processing. Water table and soil temperature data were collected from the SPRUCE monitoring network.

## **3.2.4 Laboratory Methods**

Samples were incubated at 7 temperatures corresponding to the closest average *in situ* measurements from the week prior to collection, July 2 - 8 (within 1.5 °C). Porewater (40 mL) was added to necessary samples using a syringe to prevent oxygenation, and all bottles were N<sub>2</sub>-flushed for 15 minutes and over-pressurized by 11 mL N<sub>2</sub>. Deionized water (DI) controls were created by adding 20 mL autoclaved DI water to each of five serum bottles, N<sub>2</sub> flushing for 15 minutes, and injecting <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (to a final headspace concentration of 1000 ppm). Control samples were run on the gas chromatograph and stable isotope analyzer to ensure the isotope stock solution was accurate.

After samples were incubated for 24 hours (timepoint 1), the headspace was homogenized using a syringe. From each serum bottle, a 1 mL sample was run on an SRI gas chromatograph model 8610C with a flame ionization detector and methanizer with appropriate standards. A 10 mL sample was pulled and injected into a 120 mL N<sub>2</sub>-flushed serum bottle for later analysis on a Picarro G2201-i analyzer for isotopic CO<sub>2</sub>/CH<sub>4</sub> with the small stable isotope module (SSIM) attached. A 10 mL sample (1 mL for DI controls) was pulled from each bottle and injected into the Picarro for analysis. Samples were diluted in serum bottles because the Picarro can only accurately assess samples with less than 20 ppm <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub>. Timepoint 1 was used to determine background <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production prior to <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> isotope addition. Before being placed back in the incubator, <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (to a final headspace concentration of 1000 ppm) was injected into each bottle.

After 48 hours (timepoint 2), the serum bottles were analyzed using the same method except a 1 mL sample from each bottle was stored in a 120 mL N<sub>2</sub>-flushed serum bottle for use on the Picarro. Samples for the stable isotope analyzer were smaller than at timepoint 1 (1 mL vs

10 mL), because the addition of <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> greatly increased <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> gas concentrations in the serum bottles.

pH was measured in each sample using a pH probe after gas analysis. Using the extra peat collected in the field, 20 g of each sample was placed in a drying oven for several days at 60 °C to determine moisture content.

### **3.2.5 Calculations**

Total CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations were found by using the Ideal Gas Law, Henry's Law and pH (Bridgham and Ye 2013). Several samples were rerun on the gas chromatograph and stable isotope analyzer to verify results. To account for this, samples were repressurized and concentrations were adjusted for dilution differences.

We based our methodology on the stable isotope tracer method. Biogenic methanogenesis heavily favors the production of <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (~ 99%) as opposed to <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (~ 1%) (Conrad 2005), but AOM only marginally discriminates against <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> (Wilson et al. 2019). By injecting samples with <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub>, we can measure the rates of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production and thus, how much <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> is being oxidized through AOM. We used the CO<sub>2</sub> isotopic discrimination in samples prior to isotope injection (timepoint 1) and total CO<sub>2</sub> produced during timepoint 2 to account for background <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production. Previous studies relied on samples spiked with <sup>12</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> to determine background <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production (as seen in Chapter 2) (Blazewicz et al. 2012). However, we found in the pilot experiment that the large sample-to-sample variation in total CO<sub>2</sub> production reduced our sensitivity to measure AOM. Net CH<sub>4</sub> was measured by calculating the difference in CH<sub>4</sub> concentration over the course of the experiment, and gross CH<sub>4</sub> production was calculated by summing net CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM. Negative AOM values were set to zero as we assumed that these values were random variation around our detection limit of approximately 0.012 µmol

 $g^{-1}$  day<sup>-1</sup>. Detection limit was calculated by doubling a one-sided 95% confidence interval of the negative samples.

Equation 3 : AOM rate for SPRUCE experiment

$$AOM = \frac{({}^{13}CO_{2,T2} - {}^{13}CO_{2,B}) \times (CH_{4,ave})}{({}^{13}CH_{4,ave}) \times g \ dry \ weight \times (T2 - T1)}$$

Equation 4: Net CH<sub>4</sub> production rate for SPRUCE experiment

$$Net \ CH_4 \ Production \ = \ \frac{(CH_{4,T2})}{g \ dry \ weight \ \times \ (T2 \ - \ T1)}$$

**Equation 5:** Gross CH<sub>4</sub> production rate for SPRUCE experiment

$${\rm Gross} \ {\rm CH}_4 \ {\rm Production} \ = \ {\rm Net} \ {\rm CH}_4 \ {\rm Production} \ + {\rm AOM}$$

Where <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2, T2</sub> is the <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production in the <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub>-labeled samples from T1 to T2;

<sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2, B</sub> is the background <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> production from T1 to T2, found by multiplying the CO<sub>2</sub>

production from T1 to T2 by CO<sub>2</sub> atom % of samples at T1. This assumes that the background isotopic fractionation rate for CO<sub>2</sub> in a sample does not change over the incubation, but accounts for sample-to-sample variation in CO<sub>2</sub> production;

CH<sub>4, ave</sub> is the average total CH<sub>4</sub> concentration from T1 to T2;

<sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4, ave</sub> is the average <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> concentration between T1 and T2;

T1 and T2 are timepoints 1 and 2, respectively.

## 3.2.6 Data Analysis

All statistics were done in R (version 1.3.1073). Data transformations were determined using univariate Box-Cox approach with powerTransform (package car). Values for gross CH4 production and net CH<sub>4</sub> production were logged to better fit a normal distribution. Data for CO<sub>2</sub> production were square root transformed, and AOM rates were cube root transformed to improve fit. The percent AOM of net CH<sub>4</sub> production was arcsine transformed. Non-transformed data are shown in figures unless otherwise specified to make it easier to visualize results. The effects of temperature, depth, and elevated  $CO_2$  on the response variables were determined using a linear regression model (package stats). Depth was treated as a categorical variable and significant differences (p < 0.05) among depths were found using a Tukey's test. We also examined the effect of porewater addition in samples with and without porewater in the first two depths in which we could collect porewater samples using a one-way ANOVA (package car). The samples with added porewater were only used to determine porewater effects and not for other analyses. Q<sub>10</sub> coefficients for AOM and gross CH<sub>4</sub> production were found by using rates at the highest temperature and lowest temperature with a nonnegative AOM rate. Rates were determined using regression equations across the temperature gradient.

**Equation 6:** Q<sub>10</sub> equation for SPRUCE experiment

$$\mathbf{Q}_{10} = \left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_1}{\mathbf{r}_0}\right)^{\frac{10}{\bigtriangleup \mathrm{T}}}$$

Where  $r_1$  is the rate of production or consumption at T1 found by using a regression equation; r<sub>0</sub> is the rate of production or consumption at T0 found by using a regression equation;  $\Delta$ T is the change in temperature between T1 and T0; T1 is the highest temperature and T0 is the lowest temperature with a nonnegative AOM rate.

Even though the SPRUCE plots were warmed throughout the peat profile, depth and temperature were somewhat confounded in our experimental design. Deeper depths were cooler (Fig 10, p = 0.002), and there was limited temperature overlap between 30 cm and 200 cm (30 cm was never less than 10 °C and 200 cm was never greater than 15 °C). The result of this cofounding of temperature and depth was that adding an interaction term into the regression model reduced the significance of the main factors. Consequently, we mainly examine main effects and qualitatively refer to interactions among terms when appropriate.



Figure 10. Temperature (°C) across depth in all plots. Letters indicate significant differences among depths.

Since some peat samples were collected above the water table, we also wanted to examine if samples collected above and below the water table had different rates when incubated anaerobically in the laboratory. All but one nonsaturated sample was in the 30 cm depth interval, so we limited our analysis of the saturation effect to this depth.

## **3.3 Results**

We found no impact of water saturation on rates of CH<sub>4</sub> production, CO<sub>2</sub> production, or AOM. Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> only affected CO<sub>2</sub> production (see 3.3.3 Carbon Dioxide Production), so it is only mentioned in that section.

## **3.3.1 Methane Production**

We did not observe net CH<sub>4</sub> consumption in this experiment. Net CH<sub>4</sub> production was not affected by temperature (Fig. 11a, p = 0.25), and the greatest production occurred in the surface 30 cm depth (Fig. 11b, p < 0.001). The impact of whole-ecosystem warming on net CH<sub>4</sub> production has decreased over time in the most surface level depth (Fig. 12).



**Figure 11.** (a) Net  $CH_4$  production (Log<sub>10</sub>) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. (b) Boxplot of net  $CH_4$  production by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths.



**Figure 12.** Net  $CH_4$  production across temperature in the most surface-level depth measured after (a) one year of whole-ecosystem warming (Wilson et al. 2016), (b) three years of whole-ecosystem warming (Hopple et al. 2020), and six years of whole-ecosystem warming.



**Figure 13.** (a) Gross CH<sub>4</sub> production ( $\log_{10}$ ) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. y = 0.0166x - 0.6534 (b) Boxplot of gross CH<sub>4</sub> production rates by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths.

Temperature had a marginally significant impact on gross CH<sub>4</sub> production (Fig. 13a, p = 0.095) with a Q<sub>10</sub> of 3.04. As with net CH<sub>4</sub> production, the greatest production occurred at the surface 30 cm depth (Fig. 13b, p < 0.001). When we examine CH<sub>4</sub> production visually, we see that higher temperatures and more surface level depths tended to have higher rates, although the depth effect appears to be stronger.

## 3.3.2 AOM



**Figure 14.** (a) AOM (cube root) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. y = 0.0195x - 0.1011 (b) Boxplot of AOM by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths.



**Figure 15.** (a) Percent AOM of net  $CH_4$  production (Arcsine) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. y = 0.0203x - 0.1128 (b) Boxplot of the percent AOM of net  $CH_4$  production by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths.

Higher AOM rates were observed at warmer temperatures (Fig. 14a, p < 0.001). The Q<sub>10</sub> coefficient was 4.47, and measurable rates were seen more often at temperatures above 8 °C. AOM was higher in surface peat (p = 0.002) with a visual peak at 50 cm (Fig. 14b). AOM was generally below detection at deeper depths (125 – 200 cm).

A higher percentage of net CH<sub>4</sub> production was consumed by AOM with increased temperature (Fig. 15a, p = 0.002). The highest percentage of AOM consumption occurred at 50 cm (Fig. 15b, p < 0.001) with most deeper depths (125 – 200 cm) consuming 0% of net CH<sub>4</sub> production within our limits of detection for AOM.

## 3.3.3 Carbon Dioxide Production

Temperature did not have an impact on  $CO_2$  production (Fig. 16a, p = 0.73), but production was marginally greater in the 30 cm depth (Fig. 16b, p = 0.08). Unlike CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM, elevated CO<sub>2</sub> in plots marginally increased CO<sub>2</sub> production (Fig. 17, p = 0.09).



**Figure 16.** (a)  $CO_2$  production (square root) across temperature (°C). Color indicates depth. (b) Boxplot of  $CO_2$  production rates by depth. Letters indicate significant differences among depths.



Figure 17. CO<sub>2</sub> production in elevated and ambient CO<sub>2</sub> treatments in plots.

## **3.3.4 Effect of Porewater**

Since SPRUCE manipulated temperature with its predictable positive effect on evapotranspiration, water tables varied widely by plot. We collected porewater from the 2 most surface level depths in each plot which gave us an uneven distribution of sample depths. We collected most samples from 50 and 75 cm with limited measurements from deeper depths.

We did not observe a direct effect of porewater on AOM (p = 0.68) when it was examined alone as a main effect. However, temperature had a positive effect in samples with and without porewater addition as expected (Fig. 18a, interaction p = 0.79). When we added depth to the model, AOM marginally increased in samples without porewater (Fig. 18b, p = 0.079), with this effect apparent only in surface depths (Fig. 18b).

There was an increase in gross (Fig. 19a, p = 0.007) and net (Fig. 19b, p = 0.005) CH<sub>4</sub> production with the addition of porewater. However, there was no observable impact of

porewater addition on CO<sub>2</sub> production (Fig. 20, p = 0.31). Since AOM was frequently below detection, the percent AOM of net CH<sub>4</sub> production did not respond to porewater addition (Fig. 21, p = 0.67).



**Figure 18.** (a) AOM across temperature (°C). Color indicates porewater addition or control. (b) Boxplot of AOM with and without porewater by depth. Color indicates porewater addition or control.



Figure 19. (a) Boxplot of gross CH<sub>4</sub> production with and without porewater (b) Boxplot of net CH<sub>4</sub> production with and without porewater



Figure 20. Boxplot of CO<sub>2</sub> production with and without porewater



Figure 21. Boxplot of percent AOM of net CH4 production without and without porewater

## **3.4 Discussion**

It is important to acknowledge with a one-time sampling that depth was closely tied to water saturation and temperature, although whole-ecosystem warming reduced the typical depth-

temperature relationship seen in unmanipulated systems. The surface-level increments exhibited the warmest temperatures and 60% of our 30 cm depths were aerobic. However, there was no evidence that treating both aerobic and anaerobic peat under anaerobic conditions yielded different results.

## **3.4.1 Depth Effects**

We confirmed our first hypothesis that AOM is an important regulator of CH<sub>4</sub> production in at least this northern peat bog. In the mesotelm, AOM on average consumed a quarter of net CH<sub>4</sub> production with some samples consuming over half. This high percentage is attributed to high levels of AOM and modest levels of CH<sub>4</sub> production. The highest AOM rates occurred in the mesotelm (50 cm) with visually somewhat lower rates in the 75 and 30 cm depths. Negligible AOM occurred at deeper depths. Segarra et al. (2015) also found increased rates of AOM in peat close to the surface where there are high concentrations of TEAs. At S-1 bog, humic compounds are a major TEA and are found in high concentrations in the mesotelm (Tfaily et al. 2014, Rush et al. 2021). In warmer conditions with seasonal reductions in the water table, mesotelm peat can become aerated and TEAs, like humic compounds, can be oxidized (Rush et al. 2021). After rewetting, large stores of TEAs become available for reduction with AOM (Rush et al. 2021). The interface of high levels of humic compounds and CH<sub>4</sub> (see below) allow for increased AOM rates.

As seen in previous studies at SPRUCE, net CH<sub>4</sub> production was highest in the most surface-level increment (Wilson et al. 2016, Hopple et al. 2020). The high concentration of labile, recent decayed organic matter near the surface provides substrates for methanogens (Schulz and Conrad 1996). As seen in our experiment and previous studies, even in warmed conditions, deep peat produces limited CH<sub>4</sub>, and much of the CH<sub>4</sub> that is produced is derived from surface dissolved organic matter (Hopple et al. 2019, 2020, Rush et al. 2021). Similarly, we

found the highest CO<sub>2</sub> production in the acrotelm. The high production in the surface could be driven by high decomposition rates as recent studies using radiocarbon analysis have found that CO<sub>2</sub> production in SPRUCE is driven by surface dissolved organic carbon (Wilson et al. 2016).

Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> only had a positive effect on anaerobic CO<sub>2</sub> production, possibly driven by increased vascular plant growth. Previous studies at SPRUCE have shown that elevated CO<sub>2</sub> increased CH<sub>4</sub> production at surface depths which was ascribed to increased available acetate and more labile root exudates (Hopple et al. 2020), but we did not observe this after six years of warming in a single mid-summer sampling.

## **3.4.2 Temperature Sensitivity**

This is the first study to our knowledge that examines long-term temperature changes on AOM in freshwater wetlands. Our second hypothesis, that in a long-term warming experiment, CH4 production, CO<sub>2</sub> production, and AOM would be similarly temperature sensitive, was only partially supported. We observed a modest positive temperature effect on AOM at more surface level depths (30 – 75 cm) and a marginal positive effect on gross CH4 production, but not on net CH4 or CO<sub>2</sub> production. In contrast, Gill et al. (2017) found at SPRUCE that methanogenesis is more sensitive to temperature increases than aerobic methanotrophy. Increases in temperature might allow for more optimal AOM microbial growth (Kolton et al. 2019) and increased reduction of organic matter (see above) (Rush et al. 2021). Intriguingly, the result of these differential temperature. If this trend is observed in other northern peatlands under long-term warming conditions, it is possible that AOM will regulate greater percentages of CH4 production with rising global temperatures. Further research should expand on this study to determine how universal these trends are across peatlands.

The increase in gross CH<sub>4</sub> in our study can partially be explained by warmer temperatures increasing the rate at which organic matter decays and breaks down into simple substrates, thus increasing methanogenesis (Schulz and Conrad 1996, Shannon et al. 1996). Studies at SPRUCE have also shown decreases in substrate concentrations under warming conditions are likely due to increased use by methanogens (Hopple et al. 2020). It is unlikely that methanogens in our study were beyond their temperature optimum, which was found to be 30 °C at SPRUCE (Kolton et al. 2019). Studies conducted relatively early in the warming manipulation at SPRUCE have found that warming led to higher rates of net CH<sub>4</sub> production and total emissions (Wilson et al. 2016, Gill et al. 2017, Kolton et al. 2019, Hopple et al. 2020). However, the strength of the warming effect has decreased through time (Hopple et al. 2020), and our study suggests this decrease is continuing.

We ascribe this result to years of warming having allowed for cascading ecological effects to manifest themselves at SPRUCE, like increases in nutrient availability, prevalence of ericaceous shrubs and ectomycorrhizal fungal rhizomorphs as well as the desiccation of *Sphagnum* (McPartland et al. 2019, Norby et al. 2019, Iversen et al. 2022). For example, warmer temperatures might allow microbes utilizing other TEAs to become metabolically active and substrate limit methanogens. Acetate has been shown to pool at lower temperatures before sulfate reducers are metabolically active, but with temperature increases, sulfate reducers can deplete acetate from the system (Shannon and White 1996). A study in S-1 Bog showed that warmed conditions increased the rate at which organic matter is used as a TEA and created more competition for acetate (Rush et al. 2021). As well, drawdowns in the water table at higher temperatures have the potential to oxidize TEAs, including organic matter, and periodically decrease the anaerobic zone, both of which can decrease CH4 production (Hopple et al. 2020,

Rush et al. 2021). Recent studies have shown increases in available ammonium and phosphate in SPRUCE which might impact organic matter decomposition, CH<sub>4</sub> production, and AOM (Keller et al. 2005, 2006, Iversen et al. 2022). Other indirect effects include the increases in vascular plant growth, especially ericaceous shrubs, and the loss of *Sphagnum* (McPartland et al. 2019, Norby et al. 2019). While we do not know relative importance of each of these factors, we can anticipate that they will have direct and indirect impacts on CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM.

CO<sub>2</sub> production in our study was minimally impacted by the temperature gradient. In SPRUCE, CO<sub>2</sub> production is mediated by two anaerobic communities that have local maximal growth at 4 °C and 20 °C (Kolton et al. 2019). Since most of our temperatures (4 - 19 °C) are located between these two maxima, there might be less consistency in how CO<sub>2</sub> production reacts to these temperature changes. Previous studies at SPRUCE have shown temperature has a widely variable impact on CO<sub>2</sub> production. Increases in CO<sub>2</sub> production at higher temperatures were seen only at the most surface level depth (Wilson et al. 2016, McCullough 2019), at the deepest depth (Hopple et al. 2020), or not at all (Hopple 2018). Since all these studies at SPRUCE were conducted at different times since the warming initiation, there might be differences in how CO<sub>2</sub> production at SPRUCE, we cannot conclusively say how CO<sub>2</sub> production might be impacted by temperature, but at best, there is a weak positive effect.

#### **3.4.3 Porewater Impacts**

There was weak support for our third hypothesis that the addition of porewater would suppress rates of AOM through a diffusional barrier. We found that the addition of porewater marginally decreased AOM rates in depths above 75 cm, and, as seen in a previous study at SPRUCE, increased CH<sub>4</sub> production (Hopple 2018). Both our study and Hopple (2018) provide evidence for increased AOM in surface samples without porewater. The previous study observed

net CH<sub>4</sub> consumption in surface level depths when samples were not slurried (Hopple 2018). However, our study did not observe net consumption at any depth. For net CH<sub>4</sub> consumption to occur, AOM must outpace gross CH<sub>4</sub> production. There are several possible reasons for differences between these studies. Our study only measured rates once, whereas Hopple (2018) measured rates at multiple timepoints and did not see net consumption for every measurement. There also might be discrepancies because of time differences in the collection period. Hopple (2018) collected samples (August 2015 – October 2016) shortly after the initiation of SPRUCE, while our collection occurred after six years of whole ecosystem warming and might have been impacted by cascading ecological effects as described above.

There are several possible explanations for the increase in CH<sub>4</sub> production and decrease in AOM with the addition of porewater. As hypothesized, samples with porewater may have lower rates of AOM since CH<sub>4</sub> is relatively insoluble and has difficulty diffusing through the porewater barrier. This would suppress AOM and potentially underrepresent *in situ* rates where CH<sub>4</sub> is ubiquitous. Porewater also contains labile dissolved organic matter that can be fermented into simple substrates (CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, and acetate) used to fuel methanogenesis (Medvedeff et al. 2015, Hopple et al. 2019). Many laboratory studies of CH<sub>4</sub> production add porewater to soil samples to create a slurry, yet our results here and those of Hopple (2018) suggest adding porewater might add labile dissolved organic matter, potentially enhancing methanogenesis, and suppressing AOM. Overall, evidence suggests that adding porewater to make slurries might be a poor experimental design if the objective of a study is to estimate *in situ* rates of anaerobic carbon cycling.

## **3.5 Conclusion**

Evidence from this study supports the hypothesis that AOM plays an important role in CH<sub>4</sub> cycling in freshwater wetlands. We observed instances where over half of CH<sub>4</sub> production

was consumed by AOM, potentially driven by the high concentrations of humic compounds acting as TEAs restricting methanogenesis and promoting AOM. This study found that AOM can regulate CH<sub>4</sub> flux in northern peatlands and should be considered an important part of CH<sub>4</sub> cycling.

Increased temperature not only led to higher gross CH<sub>4</sub> production, it also led to higher AOM consumption rates. The effect of temperature on net CH<sub>4</sub> production and emission in the SPRUCE has decreased through time. Increased temperatures might have allowed for more optimal microbial growth and faster decomposition rates but cascading ecological effects could have limited total emissions. Changes in water table levels, nutrients concentrations, microbial communities and vegetation all have the potential to impact CH<sub>4</sub> flux and should be studied to fully appreciate how rising global temperatures will impact CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. Our study provides evidence for marginal increases CH<sub>4</sub> production and higher increases in AOM consumption after six years of a whole ecosystem warming experiment.

Finally, the addition of porewater marginally decreased AOM rates and substantially increased CH<sub>4</sub> production. This might be attributed to a diffusional barrier blocking AOM microbial access to headspace CH<sub>4</sub> and to porewater dissolved organic matter breaking down into simple substrates for higher rates of methanogenesis. Adding porewater and peat to make slurries in experimental design might overestimate CH<sub>4</sub> production and underestimate AOM in surface level depths and should be used with caution.

This study was limited by a singular collection in the field that did not allow for nuance between timepoints and environmental conditions, as evidenced by not seeing net CH<sub>4</sub> consumption in any sample, and the partial confounding of soil temperature and depth. Further experiments should examine the full suite of processes controlling CH<sub>4</sub> dynamics across both

time and temperature conditions. At a single timepoint, our results indicate that assessments of CH<sub>4</sub> flux in wetlands would be more accurate if they incorporate AOM and that AOM may become a more important regulator of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions with increases in global temperature.

#### 4. CONCLUSION

I wrote Chapter 4 with text edits provided by Scott Bridgham.

As the earth continues to warm at unprecedented rates, it is important to understand the mechanisms behind global CH<sub>4</sub> flux. This study expanded upon the current understanding of AOM's importance in freshwater wetland CH<sub>4</sub> cycling. AOM consumed the highest percentage of net CH<sub>4</sub> production in the mesotelm in part due to high concentrations of humic compounds both suppressing CH<sub>4</sub> production and promoting AOM. As supported in previous studies, CH<sub>4</sub> production and CO<sub>2</sub> production were highest in the surface increment possibly due to enhanced decomposition and increased microbial activity. As the evidence from this study supports the importance of AOM in freshwater CH<sub>4</sub> cycling, it merits further study in a globally changing context.

This study is the first to our knowledge to examine the impact of long-term temperature changes on AOM in freshwater systems. Our study suggests that long-term temperature increases will alter rates of CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM. After six years of whole ecosystem warming in an ombrotrophic peat bog, both gross CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM rates increased in response to temperature. However, since AOM rates increased more significantly, it obscured any temperature impact on net CH<sub>4</sub> production. Our study suggests that under warmed conditions, AOM will consume a greater percentage of CH<sub>4</sub> consumption. To create the most accurate assessment of freshwater CH<sub>4</sub> flux, these impacts should be examined in context with other cascading ecological effects under warming conditions.

To our knowledge, our study is also the first to examine the addition of porewater to experimental methodology of AOM. There is a suggestion that the addition of porewater to *in vitro* AOM experiments is not representative of rates seen *in situ* especially at more surface level depths. The addition of porewater to samples might both hinder AOM microbes from accessing

CH<sub>4</sub> in the headspace because of the diffusional barrier and promote methanogenesis through increased dissolved organic matter. Further research should be conducted to verify the role of porewater in this methodology.

AOM remains an understudied process in CH<sub>4</sub> cycling in freshwater environments. Results from our study indicate that AOM acts as an important regulator in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions in temperate peatlands. Changes in climate might lead to increases in CH<sub>4</sub> production and AOM across peatland environments, although our study indicates that AOM will consume a larger percentage of net CH<sub>4</sub> with increasing temperatures. Peatlands contain massive stores of soil carbon, and more comprehensive studies are necessary to determine the full impacts of climate change on these stores. Future studies should work to include the impacts of warming temperature on full ecosystem effects and their interactions to get the best representation of climate change scenarios.

## APPENDIX

# SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

Supp.	Table	1. All raw	data isotope	e values f	for the	pilot exp	periment.
-------	-------	------------	--------------	------------	---------	-----------	-----------

			Timepoint 1 (7 hours)				т	Timepoint 2 (24 hours)				Timepoint 3 (48 hours)			
	Tomp		13 <b>C</b> LI	12CH	12 -	<sup>12</sup> CO <sub>2</sub>	13CH	12CH	<sup>13</sup> CO <sub>2</sub>	<sup>12</sup> CO <sub>2</sub>	13CH	12CH	<sup>13</sup> CO <sub>2</sub>	<sup>12</sup> CO <sub>2</sub>	
Isotor	oratur	Booli	-CH4		<sup>13</sup> CO <sub>2</sub>	(umol			(umol	(umol			(umol	(umol	
isotop		Repli cato	(μποι	(μποι	(µmol)	)	(µmor	(μποι	)	)	(µmor	(μποι	)	)	
13CH		cate	)	1		י רד בב	)	1	,	65.04	)	12 01	,	, 02.11	
CH4	0	1	2 5 70	7 404	0.204	33.72	2 207	23.70	0 772	05.84	2 5 7 2	43.81	1 044	92.11	
13CH	0	1	2.370	7.494	0.364	29 52	3.297	12/11	0.772	19.25	3.372	10 71	1.044	50.06	
CH4	8	2	4 837	7 464	0 4 3 8	50.52	4 203	15.41	0 548	40.55	4 491	13.71	0.679	55.50	
<sup>13</sup> CH.	0	-	1.007	7.101	0.150	39.16	1.200	19.28	0.5 10	49 77	1.131	31.62	0.075	61 18	
0114	8	3	4,599	9.148	0.460	3	3.954	4	0.566	5	4.423	6	0.693	3	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>		-				30.37		13.79		39.22	-	20.52		42.68	
	12	1	4.460	7.841	0.342	8	3.827	0	0.518	8	3.689	1	0.522	6	
<sup>13</sup> CH₄						31.74		14.04		37.23		22.07		45.27	
	12	2	4.316	8.629	0.358	8	4.004	3	0.437	6	4.147	6	0.510	1	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						39.61		10.96		48.27		15.76		50.97	
	12	3	4.048	7.514	0.455	7	2.954	5	0.571	4	2.982	0	0.593	2	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						43.35		19.41		62.25		32.00		75.60	
	16	1	4.303	9.444	0.491	4	3.821	7	0.708	6	4.040	9	0.859	8	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						42.67		16.52		53.46		27.51		66.73	
	16	2	4.076	9.322	0.480	4	3.769	5	0.603	3	4.055	5	0.752	5	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						33.79		16.76		44.72		24.43		52.19	
	16	3	3.710	9.563	0.382	2	3.589	3	0.504	7	3.769	6	0.588	9	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						37.35		23.27		53.57		39.19		69.06	
	20	1	4.172	9.787	0.422	1	4.121	4	0.603	9	4.380	1	0.774	2	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						33.17		19.75		50.90		37.99		73.05	
	20	2	4.627	7.041	0.449	6	3.783	5	0.576	9	4.285	3	0.824	3	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						33.78		20.35		49.50		35.10		65.39	
	20	3	4.273	8.138	0.386	0	3.877	1	0.561	7	4.180	2	0.736	2	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						28.67		22.83		58.25		40.90		83.14	
	24	1	3.222	6.749	0.327	7	3.820	9	0.661	4	4.122	1	0.941	4	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						33.06		22.57		52.19		40.47		72.54	
42	24	2	4.214	8.157	0.379	1	3.883	9	0.592	4	4.208	8	0.821	5	
<sup>13</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>		-				30.10		15.07		43.04		25.70		55.42	
12 011	24	3	4.157	6.519	0.342	6	3.805	2	0.488	3	3.940	9	0.625	/	
<sup>++</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>	0	1			0.200	26.45	0.120	12.11	0.200	33.33	0.100	15.79	0.200	35.80	
12011	8	1			0.296	/	0.129	1	0.369	102.2	0.168	9	0.398	ð 110 г	
CH4	0	2			0 501	45.17	0.024	2 215	1 1 2 1	102.2	0.012	1 1 70	1 211	2/011	
12CH	0	2			0.501		0.024	2.213	1.131	52 71	0.013	28 00	1.311	67.07	
C114	8	2			0 472	2.52	0.263	24.72	0 595	JJ./1	0 4 1 2	20.00 Q	0 743	67.07	
<sup>12</sup> CH.					0.772	29 78	0.200	12 77	0.555	37 45	0.712	19.27	0.745	42 13	
5114	12	1			0.331	8	0,136	8	0.415	6	0.204	3	0.472	9	
<sup>12</sup> CH₄		-				39.45		Ť		49.30		Ű		56.73	
04	12	2			0.438	5	0.023	2.147	0.547	0	0.012	1.144	0.628	3	
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>		-				33.02		13.21		39.90		18.55		45.45	
5114	12	3			0.366	3	0.141	9	0.442	5	0.197	0	0.504	2	
<sup>12</sup> CH₄		-				35.13		18.82		50.83		31.31		63.64	
	16	1			0.389	2	0.200	1	0.564	3	0.332	8	0.705	5	
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						40.76		28.21		57.17		50.10		82.95	
	16	2			0.452	0	0.300	1	0.633	2	0.531	9	0.918	9	
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						44.27		29.86		60.90		50.36		81.91	
	16	3			0.490	4	0.317	5	0.675	3	0.534	8	0.910	5	
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>						40.09		30.17		63.69		52.20		90.16	
	20	1			0.445	1	0.321	8	0.705	7	0.554	4	1.000	1	

<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>					36.09		14.13		50.52		24.56		61.35
	20	2		0.400	5	0.150	0	0.559	2	0.261	6	0.681	6
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>					36.10		19.89		52.97		33.89		69.05
	20	3		0.400	1	0.212	7	0.589	8	0.359	5	0.766	9
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>					28.07		17.12		39.35		26.10		47.85
	24	1		0.313	5	0.182	4	0.436	5	0.277	7	0.531	2
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>					29.01		14.04		37.01		22.53		46.48
	24	2		0.322	0	0.149	1	0.410	1	0.239	3	0.515	8
<sup>12</sup> CH <sub>4</sub>					34.05		19.68		45.81		33.30		60.47
	24	3		0.377	0	0.209	9	0.507	7	0.353	9	0.674	5

Supp. Table 2. All raw data isotope values for SPRUCE experiment.

				-	Timepoint 1	(Backgroun	d)	Timepoint 2				
Plot	Depth (cm)	Pore water	Temper ature (°C)	<sup>13</sup> CH₄ (µmol)	<sup>12</sup> CH₄ (μmol)	<sup>13</sup> CO <sub>2</sub> (μmol)	<sup>12</sup> CO <sub>2</sub> (μmol)	<sup>13</sup> CH₄ (μmol)	<sup>12</sup> CH₄ (μmol)	<sup>13</sup> CO₂ (μmol)	<sup>12</sup> CO <sub>2</sub> (μmol)	
4	25	-	17.28	0.044	4.284	0.320	28.824	4.659	8.554	1.722	150.690	
4	50	-	16.83	0.023	2.237	0.186	16.424	4.245	3.138	1.171	50.789	
4	75	-	13.44	0.014	1.310	0.071	6.225	3.929	1.871	0.917	63.633	
4	75	+	13.44	0.019	1.817	0.576	51.107	6.722	2.242	1.086	93.692	
4	100	-	13.00	0.027	2.588	0.122	10.726	3.811	3.293	1.465	132.988	
4	100	+	13.00	0.024	2.348	0.584	51.767	5.761	2.910	0.931	81.634	
4	200	-	12.00	0.023	2.218	0.102	9.001	4.453	2.836	0.362	33.323	
6	25	-	10.00	0.012	1.185	0.145	13.029	4.721	2.095	1.123	89.557	
6	25	+	10.00	0.008	0.793	0.375	33.677	6.536	2.231	0.832	76.419	
6	50	-	10.83	0.040	3.875	0.180	15.909	3.324	4.871	0.337	29.202	
6	50	+	10.83	0.033	3.148	0.364	32.352	5.738	3.707	0.605	54.678	
6	75	-	6.44	0.024	2.328	0.105	9.315	3.647	2.348	0.252	21.884	
6	100	-	4.22	0.021	2.045	0.075	6.554	4.375	2.563	0.126	11.513	
6	200	-	0.28	0.063	6.075	0.272	23.992	4.181	6.764	0.929	84.524	
8	25	-	18.22	0.081	6.652	0.264	23.845	4.308	13.969	1.124	84.534	
8	50	-	17.67	0.013	1.253	0.097	8.706	3.719	2.556	1.523	71.366	
8	50	+	17.67	0.012	1.187	0.366	32.478	6.218	2.373	0.793	57.917	
8	75	-	16.44	0.032	3.030	0.169	14.968	3.763	4.055	0.424	35.084	
8	75	+	16.44	0.020	1.894	0.557	49.323	5.220	2.164	1.355	110.186	
8	100	-	14.50	0.013	1.265	0.062	5.439	4.371	1.721	0.329	28.640	
8	200	-	11.83	0.052	4.972	0.250	22.122	4.456	5.695	0.658	58.879	
10	25	-	17.72	0.002	0.236	0.344	31.420	4.456	0.930	0.965	65.095	
10	50	-	19.06	0.008	0.674	0.072	6.453	5.062	1.616	1.193	71.781	
10	75	-	17.83	0.013	1.234	0.093	8.226	3.911	1.648	0.573	41.432	
10	100	-	16.89	0.019	1.817	0.096	8.482	3.930	2.387	0.513	45.416	
10	100	+	16.89	0.021	2.022	0.587	52.073	6.341	2.373	1.146	96.392	
10	200	-	14.89	0.042	4.038	0.226	19.818	3.130	4.122	0.221	19.602	

10	200	+	14.89	0.037	3.528	0.371	32.850	4.894	4.106	1.463	126.992
11	25	-	15.61	0.083	7.929	0.411	36.485	4.436	11.464	0.679	53.979
11	25	+	15.61	0.077	7.372	0.641	57.085	4.934	10.177	1.073	95.101
11	50	-	13.89	0.019	1.848	0.117	10.410	4.739	2.533	0.680	37.541
11	50	+	13.89	0.024	2.296	0.526	46.743	5.671	2.668	1.160	86.778
11	75	-	11.00	0.014	1.363	0.098	8.735	4.569	1.966	0.440	35.087
11	100	-	11.17	0.026	2.509	0.121	10.736	4.704	3.019	0.312	27.831
11	200	-	8.83	0.041	3.969	0.208	18.488	4.053	5.133	0.438	39.352
13	25	-	16.00	0.051	4.865	0.184	16.506	3.144	11.441	0.388	32.767
13	50	-	15.50	0.015	1.471	0.104	9.386	4.143	3.209	0.595	36.021
13	50	+	15.50	0.017	1.598	0.376	33.460	5.677	2.647	1.231	90.266
13	75	-	13.28	0.012	1.175	0.077	6.808	4.766	1.527	0.452	32.433
13	75	+	13.28	0.015	1.423	0.307	27.294	6.166	1.819	0.831	70.671
13	100	-	13.17	0.019	1.863	0.117	10.235	4.976	2.270	0.364	32.901
13	200	-	9.89	0.016	1.574	0.095	8.328	4.988	2.257	0.208	19.318
16	25	-	19.78	0.008	0.787	1.342	123.005	4.503	1.733	1.574	144.043
16	50	-	18.06	0.023	2.222	0.192	17.270	4.260	4.910	0.725	46.080
16	50	+	18.06	0.027	2.570	0.190	17.036	5.095	4.049	0.428	26.249
16	75	-	16.67	0.011	1.089	0.059	5.244	4.092	1.428	0.289	24.710
16	75	+	16.67	0.012	1.098	0.465	41.253	6.379	1.314	0.804	69.581
16	100	-	15.44	0.014	1.287	0.066	5.819	4.498	1.599	0.222	20.331
16	200	-	14.39	0.044	4.174	0.172	15.213	3.856	5.221	0.342	30.588
17	25	-	19.94	0.036	3.480	0.171	15.314	3.395	5.954	0.070	5.900
17	50	-	18.94	0.082	0.751	0.075	6.789	4.318	0.960	0.866	21.647
17	50	+	18.94	0.009	0.822	0.340	30.157	5.057	1.103	0.584	43.288
17	75	-	18.61	0.010	0.969	0.117	10.429	4.522	1.152	0.113	7.924
17	75	+	18.61	0.018	1.744	0.729	64.596	6.021	2.506	1.061	95.077
17	100	-	16.33	0.023	2.223	0.176	15.533	3.359	2.920	0.161	14.800
17	200	-	14.89	0.046	4.366	0.217	19.164	3.137	6.201	0.489	44.507
19	25	-	12.00	0.010	0.978	0.310	28.409	4.403	3.572	0.932	86.442
19	25	+	12.00	0.012	1.171	0.471	42.575	6.683	2.722	1.120	95.905
19	50	-	12.17	0.060	5.825	0.301	26.740	3.421	7.451	0.342	30.537
19	50	+	12.17	0.052	4.974	0.684	61.068	5.061	5.460	0.758	68.151
19	75	-	8.61	0.014	1.392	0.077	6.904	4.228	1.742	0.358	17.457
19	100	-	5.78	0.013	1.230	0.051	4.527	4.589	2.107	0.378	36.161
19	200	-	5.89	0.032	3.124	0.141	12.462	3.938	3.775	0.133	12.443
20	25	-	15.00	0.054	5.223	0.293	26.249	4.078	7.777	0.353	32.288
20	50	-	15.44	0.018	1.706	0.086	7.647	3.808	2.442	0.083	7.629
20	50	+	15.44	0.020	1.913	0.452	40.254	6.506	2.205	0.712	59.421

20	75	-	13.44	0.016	1.515	0.081	7.205	4.318	2.105	0.298	23.400
20	75	+	13.44	0.027	2.193	0.528	46.919	5.864	2.651	0.638	55.956
20	100	-	11.28	0.016	1.524	0.064	5.707	4.079	1.958	0.028	2.602
20	200	-	7.22	0.081	7.804	0.306	27.068	3.106	8.408	0.223	20.230

## REFERENCES

- Bastviken, D., L. J. Tranvik, J. A. Downing, P. M. Crill, and A. Enrich-Prast. 2011. Freshwater methane emissions offset the continental carbon sink. Science 331:50.
- Beal, E. J., C. H. House, and V. J. Orphan. 2009. Manganese- and iron-dependent marine methane oxidation. Science 325:184–187.
- Blazewicz, S., D. Petersen, M. Waldrop, and M. Firestone. 2012. Anaerobic oxidation of methane in tropical and boreal soils: Ecological significance in terrestrial methane cycling. Journal of Geophysical Research 117:9.
- Bloom, A., P. I. Palmer, A. Fraser, D. S. Reay, and C. Frankenberg. 2010. Large-Scale Controls of Methanogenesis Inferred from Methane and Gravity Spaceborne Data. Science 2:322– 325.
- Borrel, G., D. Jézéquel, C. Biderre-Petit, N. Morel-Desrosiers, J. P. Morel, P. Peyret, G. Fonty, and A. C. Lehours. 2011. Production and consumption of methane in freshwater lake ecosystems. Research in Microbiology 162:832–847.
- Bridgham, S. D., H. Cadillo-Quiroz, J. K. Keller, and Q. Zhuang. 2013. Methane emissions from wetlands: Biogeochemical, microbial, and modeling perspectives from local to global scales. Global Change Biology 19:1325–1346.
- Bridgham, S. D., and C. J. Richardson. 1992. MECHANISMS CONTROLLING SOIL RESPIRATION (CO2 AND CH4) IN SOUTHERN PEATLANDS. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 24:1089–1099.
- Bridgham, S. D., and R. Ye. 2013. Organic matter mineralization and decomposition. Pages 253–274 in R. D. Delaune, K. R. Reddy, C. J. Richardson, and J. Patrick Megonigal, editors. Methods in Biogeochemistry of Wetlands. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.
- Canfield, D., E. Kristensen, and B. Thamdrup. 2005. The Methane Cycle. Advances in Marine Biology 48:385–420.
- Caretta, M. A., A. Mukherji, M. Arfanuzzaman, R. A. Betts, A. Gelfan, Y. Hirabayashi, T. K. Lissner, J. Liu, E. Lopez Gunn, R. Morgan, S. Mwanga, S. Supratid, and B. R. (eds.). [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem. 2022. Water. In: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press. In Press.:1–213.
- Chanton, J. P., P. H. Glaser, L. S. Chasar, D. J. Burdige, M. E. Hines, D. I. Siegel, L. B. Tremblay, and W. T. Cooper. 2008. Radiocarbon evidence for the importance of surface vegetation on fermentation and methanogenesis in contrasting types of boreal peatlands. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 22:1–11.
- Cicerone, R. J., and R. S. Oremland. 1988. Biogeochemical aspects of atmospheric methane. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 2:299–327.
- Clymo, R. S. 1984. THE LIMITS TO PEAT BOG GROWTH. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 303:605–654.
- Clymo, R. S., and C. L. Bryant. 2008. Diffusion and mass flow of dissolved carbon dioxide, methane, and dissolved organic carbon in a 7-m deep raised peat bog. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 72:2048–2066.
- Conrad, R. 1999. Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 28:193–202.
- Conrad, R. 2005. Quantification of methanogenic pathways using stable carbon isotopic signatures: A review and a proposal. Organic Geochemistry 36:739–752.
- Costa, K. C., and J. A. Leigh. 2014. Metabolic versatility in methanogens. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 29:70–75.
- Curry, C. L. 2007. Modeling the soil consumption at atmospheric methane at the global scale. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 21:1–15.
- Dean, J. F., J. J. Middelburg, T. Röckmann, R. Aerts, L. G. Blauw, M. Egger, M. S. M. Jetten, A. E. E. de Jong, O. H. Meisel, O. Rasigraf, C. P. Slomp, M. H. in't Zandt, and A. J. Dolman. 2018. Methane Feedbacks to the Global Climate System in a Warmer World. Reviews of Geophysics 56:207–250.
- Fan, L., M. A. Dippold, T. Ge, J. Wu, V. Thiel, Y. Kuzyakov, and M. Dorodnikov. 2020. Anaerobic oxidation of methane in paddy soil: Role of electron acceptors and fertilization in mitigating CH4 fluxes. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 141:107685.
- Frolking, S., N. T. Roulet, T. R. Moore, P. J. H. Richard, M. Lavoie, and S. D. Muller. 2001. Modeling northern peatland decomposition and peat accumulation. Ecosystems 4:479–498.
- Gill, A. L., M. A. Giasson, R. Yu, and A. C. Finzi. 2017. Deep peat warming increases surface methane and carbon dioxide emissions in a black spruce-dominated ombrotrophic bog. Global Change Biology 23:5398–5411.
- Glaser, P. H., J. P. Chanton, P. Morin, D. O. Rosenberry, D. I. Siegel, O. Ruud, L. I. Chasar, and A. S. Reeve. 2004. Surface deformations as indicators of deep ebullition fluxes in a large northern peatland. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 18:1–15.

- Gogo, S., C. Guimbaud, F. Laggoun-Défarge, V. Catoire, C. Robert, S. Gogo, C. Guimbaud, V Catoire, and • C Robert. 2011. In situ quantification of CH4 bubbling events from a peat soil using a new infrared laser spectrometer. Journal of Soils and Sediments 11.
- Goodrich, J. P., R. K. Varner, S. Frolking, B. N. Duncan, and P. M. Crill. 2011. High-frequency measurements of methane ebullition over a growing season at a temperate peatland site. Geophysical Research Letters 38.
- Griffiths, N. A., P. J. Hanson, D. M. Ricciuto, C. M. Iversen, A. M. Jensen, A. Malhotra, K. J. McFarlane, R. J. Norby, K. Sargsyan, S. D. Sebestyen, X. Shi, A. P. Walker, E. J. Ward, J. M. Warren, and D. J. Weston. 2017. Temporal and Spatial Variation in Peatland Carbon Cycling and Implications for Interpreting Responses of an Ecosystem-Scale Warming Experiment. Soil Science Society of America Journal 81:1668–1688.
- Griffiths, N. A., and S. D. Sebestyen. 2016. Dynamic Vertical Profiles of Peat Porewater Chemistry in a Northern Peatland. Wetlands 36:1119–1130.
- Guerrero-Cruz, S., A. Vaksmaa, M. A. Horn, H. Niemann, M. Pijuan, and A. Ho. 2021. Methanotrophs: Discoveries, Environmental Relevance, and a Perspective on Current and Future Applications. Frontiers in Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org 12:678057.
- Gupta, V., K. Smemo, J. Yavitt, D. Fowle, B. Branfireun, and N. Basiliko. 2013. Stable Isotopes Reveal Widespread Anaerobic Methane Oxidation Across Latitude and Peatland Type. Environmental Science and Technology 47:8273–8279.
- Hanson, P. J., J. S. Riggs, W. Robert Nettles, J. R. Phillips, M. B. Krassovski, L. A. Hook, L. Gu, A. D. Richardson, D. M. Aubrecht, D. M. Ricciuto, J. M. Warren, and C. Barbier. 2017. Attaining whole-ecosystem warming using air and deep-soil heating methods with an elevated CO2 atmosphere. Biogeosciences 14:861–883.
- Hanson, R. S., and T. E. Hanson. 1996. Methanotrophic bacteria. Microbiological Reviews 60:439–471.
- Hopple, A. M. 2018. UNDERSTANDING ANAEROBIC CARBON CYCLING IN TROPICAL AND BOREAL WETLAND ECOSYSTEMS.
- Hopple, A. M., L. Pfeifer-Meister, C. A. Zalman, J. K. Keller, M. M. Tfaily, R. M. Wilson, J. P. Chanton, and S. D. Bridgham. 2019. Does dissolved organic matter or solid peat fuel anaerobic respiration in peatlands? Geoderma 349:79–87.
- Hopple, A. M., R. M. Wilson, M. Kolton, C. A. Zalman, J. P. Chanton, J. Kostka, P. J. Hanson, J. K. Keller, and S. D. Bridgham. 2020. Massive peatland carbon banks vulnerable to rising temperatures. Nature Communications 11.
- Iversen, C. M., J. Latimer, D. J. Brice, J. Childs, H. M. Vander Stel, C. E. Defrenne, J. Graham, N. A. Griffiths, A. Malhotra, R. J. Norby, K. C. Oleheiser, J. R. Phillips, V. G. Salmon, S. D. Sebestyen, X. Yang, and P. J. Hanson. 2022. Whole-Ecosystem Warming Increases Plant-Available Nitrogen and Phosphorus in an Ombrotrophic Bog. Ecosystems:1–28.

- Kallmeyer, J., and A. Boetius. 2004. Effects of Temperature and Pressure on Sulfate Reduction and Anaerobic Oxidation of Methane in Hydrothermal Sediments of Guaymas Basin. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70:1231–1233.
- Keller, J. K., A. K. Bauers, S. D. Bridgham, L. E. Kellogg, and C. M. Iversen. 2006. Nutrient control of microbial carbon cycling along an ombrotrophic-minerotrophic peatland gradient. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 111:1–14.
- Keller, J. K., and S. D. Bridgham. 2007. Pathways of anaerobic carbon cycling across an ombrotrophic-minerotrophic peatland gradient. Limnology and Oceanography 52:96–107.
- Keller, J. K., S. D. Bridgham, C. T. Chapin, and C. M. Iversen. 2005. Limited effects of six years of fertilization on carbon mineralization dynamics in a Minnesota fen. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 37:1197–1204.
- Keller, J. K., and K. K. Takagi. 2013. Solid-phase organic matter reduction regulates anaerobic decomposition in bog soil. Ecosphere 4:1–12.
- Knief, C., and P. F. Dunfield. 2005. Response and adaptation of different methanotrophic bacteria to low methane mixing ratios. Environmental Microbiology 7:1307–1317.
- Kolton, M., A. Marks, R. M. Wilson, J. P. Chanton, and J. E. Kostka. 2019. Impact of warming on greenhouse gas production and microbial diversity in anoxic peat from a Sphagnumdominated bog (Grand Rapids, Minnesota, United States). Frontiers in Microbiology 10:870.
- Lan, X., S. Basu, S. Schwietzke, L. M. P. Bruhwiler, E. J. Dlugokencky, S. E. Michel, O. A. Sherwood, P. P. Tans, K. Thoning, G. Etiope, Q. Zhuang, L. Liu1, Y. Oh, J. B. Miller, G. Pétron, B. H. Vaughn, and M. Crippa. 2021. Improved Constraints on Global Methane Emissions and Sinks Using δ13C-CH4. Advancing Earth and Space Sciences.
- Lomans, B. P., R. Luderer, P. Steenbakkers, A. Pol, C. Van Der Drift, G. D. Vogels, and H. J. M. Op Den Camp. 2001. Microbial Populations Involved in Cycling of Dimethyl Sulfide and Methanethiol in Freshwater Sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67:1044– 1051.
- Lovley, D. R., J. D. Coates, E. L. Blunt-Harris, E. J. P. Phillips, and J. C. Woodward. 1996. Humic substances as electron acceptors for microbial respiration. Letters to Nature 382:445–448.
- Malhotra, A., D. J. Brice, J. Childs, J. D. Graham, E. A. Hobbie, H. Vander Stel, S. C. Feron, P. J. Hanson, and C. M. Iversen. 2020. Peatland warming strongly increases fine-root growth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 117:17627–17634.

- Martinez-Cruz, K., M. C. Leewis, I. C. Herriott, A. Sepulveda-Jauregui, K. W. Anthony, F. Thalasso, and M. B. Leigh. 2017. Anaerobic oxidation of methane by aerobic methanotrophs in sub-Arctic lake sediments. Science of the Total Environment 607–608:23–31.
- McCullough, L. L. 2019. Examining Anaerobic Oxidation of Methane in a Northern Peat Bog.
- McPartland, M. Y., R. A. Montgomery, P. J. Hanson, J. R. Phillips, R. Kolka, and B. Palik. 2019. Vascular plant species response to warming and elevated carbon dioxide in a boreal peatland. Environmental Research Letters 15.
- Medvedeff, C. A., S. D. Bridgham, L. Pfeifer-meister, and J. K. Keller. 2015. Soil Biology & Biochemistry Can Sphagnum leachate chemistry explain differences in anaerobic decomposition in peatlands ? Soil Biology and Biochemistry 86:34–41.
- Megonigal, J. P., M. E. Hines, and P. T. Visscher. 2004. Anaerobic Metabolism: Linkages to Trace Gases and Aerobic Processes. Treatise on Geochemistry 8:350–362.
- Metje, M., and P. Frenzel. 2005. Effect of temperature on anaerobic ethanol oxidation and methanogenesis in acidic peat from a Northern Wetland. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71:8191–8200.
- Miller, K. E., C. T. Lai, R. A. Dahlgren, and D. A. Lipson. 2019. Anaerobic methane oxidation in high-arctic alaskan peatlands as a significant control on net CH4 fluxes. Soil Systems 3:1–21.
- Monteil, G., S. Houweling, E. J. Dlugockenky, G. Maenhout, B. H. Vaughn, J. W. C. White, and T. Rockmann. 2011. Interpreting methane variations in the past two decades using measurements of CH4 mixing ratio and isotopic composition. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 11:9141–9153.
- Neubauer, S. C., and J. P. Megonigal. 2015. Moving Beyond Global Warming Potentials to Quantify the Climatic Role of Ecosystems. Ecosystems 18:1000–1013.
- Nichols, J. E., and D. M. Peteet. 2019. Rapid expansion of northern peatlands and doubled estimate of carbon storage. Nature Geoscience 12:917–921.
- Norby, R. J., J. Childs, P. J. Hanson, and J. M. Warren. 2019. Rapid loss of an ecosystem engineer: Sphagnum decline in an experimentally warmed bog. Ecology and Evolution 9:12571–12585.
- Poffenbarger, H. J., B. A. Needelman, and J. P. Megonigal. 2011. Salinity influence on methane emissions from tidal marshes. Wetlands 31:831–842.
- Rasmussen, S., C. Wolff, and H. Rudolph. 1995. COMPARTMENTALIZATION OF PHENOLIC CONSTITUENTS IN SPHAGNUM. Phytochemistry 38:35–39.

Reeburgh, W. S. 2007. Oceanic methane biogeochemistry. Chemical Reviews 107:486–513.

- Rush, J. E., C. A. Zalman, G. Woerndle, E. L. Hanna, S. D. Bridgham, and J. K. Keller. 2021. Warming promotes the use of organic matter as an electron acceptor in a peatland. Geoderma 401:1–8.
- Saunois, M., A. R. Stavert, B. Poulter, P. Bousquet, J. G. Canadell, R. B. Jackson, P. A. Raymond, E. J. Dlugokencky, S. Houweling, P. K. Patra, P. Ciais, V. K. Arora, D. Bastviken, P. Bergamaschi, D. R. Blake, G. Brailsford, L. Bruhwiler, K. M. Carlson, M. Carrol, S. Castaldi, N. Chandra, C. Crevoisier, P. M. Crill, K. Covey, C. L. Curry, G. Etiope, C. Frankenberg, N. Gedney, M. I. Hegglin, L. Höglund-Isaksson, G. Hugelius, M. Ishizawa, A. Ito, G. Janssens-Maenhout, K. M. Jensen, F. Joos, T. Kleinen, P. B. Krummel, R. L. Langenfelds, G. G. Laruelle, L. Liu, T. MacHida, S. Maksyutov, K. C. McDonald, J. McNorton, P. A. Miller, J. R. Melton, I. Morino, J. Müller, F. Murguia-Flores, V. Naik, Y. Niwa, S. Noce, S. O'Doherty, R. J. Parker, C. Peng, S. Peng, G. P. Peters, C. Prigent, R. Prinn, M. Ramonet, P. Regnier, W. J. Riley, J. A. Rosentreter, A. Segers, I. J. Simpson, H. Shi, S. J. Smith, L. Paul Steele, B. F. Thornton, H. Tian, Y. Tohjima, F. N. Tubiello, A. Tsuruta, N. Viovy, A. Voulgarakis, T. S. Weber, M. Van Weele, G. R. Van Der Werf, R. F. Weiss, D. Worthy, D. Wunch, Y. Yin, Y. Yoshida, W. Zhang, Z. Zhang, Y. Zhao, B. Zheng, Q. Zhu, Q. Zhu, and Q. Zhuang. 2020. The global methane budget 2000-2017. Earth System Science Data 12:1561–1623.
- Schädel, C., M. K-F Bader, E. A. G Schuur, C. Biasi, R. Bracho, P. Čapek, S. De Baets, K. Diáková, J. Ernakovich, C. Estop-Aragones, D. E. Graham, I. P. Hartley, C. M. Iversen, E. Kane, C. Knoblauch, M. Lupascu, P. J. Martikainen, S. M. Natali, R. J. Norby, J. A. O, T. Roy Chowdhury, H. Šantrůčková, G. Shaver, V. L. Sloan, C. C. Treat, M. R. Turetsky, M. P. Waldrop, and K. P. Wickland. 2016. Potential carbon emissions dominated by carbon dioxide from thawed permafrost soils.
- Schulz, S., and R. Conrad. 1996. Influence of temperature on pathways to methane production in the permanently cold profundal sediment of Lake Constance. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 20:1–14.
- Schwietzke, S., O. A. Sherwood, L. M. P. Bruhwiler, J. B. Miller, G. Etiope, E. J. Dlugokencky, S. E. Michel, V. A. Arling, B. H. Vaughn, J. W. C. White, and P. P. Tans. 2016. Upward revision of global fossil fuel methane emissions based on isotope database. Nature 2016 538:7623 538:88–91.
- Scott, D. T., D. M. Mcknight, E. L. Blunt-Harris, S. E. Kolesar, and D. R. Lovley. 1998. Quinone moieties act as electron acceptors in the reduction of humic substances by humicsreducing microorganisms. Environmental Science and Technology 32:2984–2989.
- See, M., D. Groff, D. Shank, and J. Van Staveren. 2019. Eugene Millrace Restoration and Enhancement.
- Segarra, K. E. A., F. Schubotz, V. Samarkin, M. Y. Yoshinaga, K. U. Hinrichs, and S. B. Joye. 2015. High rates of anaerobic methane oxidation in freshwater wetlands reduce potential atmospheric methane emissions. Nature Communications 6:1–8.

- Shannon, R. D., and J. R. White. 1996. The effects of spatial and temporal variations in acetate and sulfate on methane cycling in two Michigan peatlands. Limnology and Oceanography 41:435–443.
- Shannon, R. D., J. R. White, J. E. Lawson, and B. S. Gilmour. 1996. Methane Efflux from Emergent Vegetation in Peatlands. Journal of Ecology 84:239–246.
- Smemo, K. A., and J. B. Yavitt. 2007. Evidence for anaerobic CH4 oxidation in freshwater peatlands. Geomicrobiology Journal 24:583–597.
- Stanley, E. H., N. J. Casson, S. T. Christel, J. T. Crawford, L. C. Loken, and S. K. Oliver. 2016. The ecology of methane in streams and rivers: patterns, controls, and global significance. Ecological Monographs 86:146–171.
- Tfaily, M. M., W. T. Cooper, J. E. Kostka, P. R. Chanton, C. W. Schadt, P. J. Hanson, C. M. Iversen, and J. P. Chanton. 2014. Organic matter transformation in the peat column at Marcell Experimental Forest: Humification and vertical stratificatio. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences:661–675.
- Tfaily, M. M., R. M. Wilson, W. T. Cooper, J. E. Kostka, P. Hanson, and J. P. Chanton. 2018. Vertical Stratification of Peat Pore Water Dissolved Organic Matter Composition in a Peat Bog in Northern Minnesota. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 123:479– 494.
- Treude, T., M. Krüger, A. Boetius, and B. B. Jørgensen. 2005. Environmental control on anaerobic oxidation of methane in the gassy sediments of Eckernförde Bay (German Baltic). Limnology and Oceanography 50:1771–1786.
- Updegraff, K., S. D. Bridgham, J. Pastor, P. Weishampel, and C. Harth. 2001. RESPONSE OF CO2 AND CH4 EMISSIONS FROM PEATLANDS TO WARMING AND WATER TABLE MANIPULATION. Ecological Applications 11:311–326.
- Valenzuela, E. I., A. Prieto-Davó, N. E. López-Lozano, A. Hernández-Eligio, L. Vega-Alvarado, K. Juárez, A. S. García-González, M. G. López, and F. J. Cervantes. 2017. Anaerobic methane oxidation driven by microbial reduction of natural organic matter in a tropical wetland. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 83.
- Vann, C. D., and J. Patrick Megonigal. 2003. Elevated CO2 and water depth regulation of methane emissions: Comparison of woody and non-woody wetland plant species. Biogeochemistry 63:117–134.
- Wheeler, B. D., and M. C. F. Proctor. 2000. Ecological gradients, subdivisions and terminology of north-west European mires. Journal of Ecology 88:187–203.
- Wilson, R. M., A. M. Hopple, M. M. Tfaily, S. D. Sebestyen, C. W. Schadt, L. Pfeifer-Meister, C. Medvedeff, K. J. Mcfarlane, J. E. Kostka, M. Kolton, R. K. Kolka, L. A. Kluber, J. K. Keller, T. P. Guilderson, N. A. Griffiths, J. P. Chanton, S. D. Bridgham, and P. J. Hanson. 2016. Stability of peatland carbon to rising temperatures. Nature Communications 7:1–10.

- Wilson, R. M., R. B. Neumann, K. B. Crossen, N. M. Raab, S. B. Hodgkins, S. R. Saleska, B. Bolduc, B. J. Woodcroft, G. W. Tyson, J. P. Chanton, and V. I. Rich. 2019. Microbial Community Analyses Inform Geochemical Reaction Network Models for Predicting Pathways of Greenhouse Gas Production. Frontiers in Earth Science 7:1–22.
- Ye, R., Q. Jin, B. Bohannan, J. K. Keller, S. A. Mcallister, and S. D. Bridgham. 2012. pH controls over anaerobic carbon mineralization, the efficiency of methane production, and methanogenic pathways in peatlands across an ombrotrophiceminerotrophic gradient. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 54:36–47.
- Ye, R., J. K. Keller, Q. Jin, B. J. M. Bohannan, and S. D. Bridgham. 2014. Mechanisms for the suppression of methane production in peatland soils by a humic substance analog. Biogeosciences Discuss 11:1739–1771.
- Yu, Z. C. 2012. Northern peatland carbon stocks and dynamics: a review. Biogeosciences 9:4071–4085.
- Yvon-Durocher, G., A. P. Allen, D. Bastviken, R. Conrad, C. Gudasz, A. St-Pierre, N. Thanh-Duc, and P. A. Del Giorgio. 2014. Methane fluxes show consistent temperature dependence across microbial to ecosystem scales. Nature 507:488–495.
- Zalman, C. A., N. Meade, J. Chanton, J. E. Kostka, S. D. Bridgham, and J. K. Keller. 2018. Methylotrophic methanogenesis in Sphagnum-dominated peatland soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 118:156–160.
- Zeikus, J. G., and M. R. Winfrey. 1976. Temperature limitation of methanogenesis in aquatic sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 31:99–107.